KUOPION YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA D. LÄÄKETIEDE 441 KUOPIO UNIVERSITY PUBLICATIONS D. MEDICAL SCIENCES 441

HEIDI MÄKINEN

Disease Activity and Remission in Rheumatoid Arthritis

Comparison of Available Disease Activity Measures and Development of a Novel Disease Activity Index

> The Mean Overall Index for Rheumatoid Arthritis (MOI-RA)

> > Doctoral dissertation

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Kuopio for public examination in Auditorium 2, Agora, Jyväskylä, on Saturday 18th October 2008, at 12 noon

> Department of Internal Medicine University of Kuopio



KUOPION YLIOPISTO

KUOPIO 2008

Distributor:	Kuopio University Library P.O. Box 1627 FI-70211 KUOPIO FINLAND Tel. +358 40 355 3430 Fax +358 17 163 410 www.uku.fi/kirjasto/julkaisutoiminta/julkmyyn.html
Series Editors:	Professor Esko Alhava, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Department of Surgery
	Professor Raimo Sulkava, M.D., Ph.D. School of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition
	Professor Markku Tammi, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Biomedicine, Department of Anatomy
Author's address:	Tampere University Hospital P.O. Box 2000 (Teiskontie 35) FI-33521 TAMPERE FINLAND Email: heidi.makinen@ksshp.fi
Supervisors:	Docent Tuulikki Sokka, M.D., Ph.D. Jyväskylä Central Hospital and Medcare Oy
	Professor Pekka Hannonen, M.D., Ph.D. Jyväskylä Central Hospital and University of Kuopio
Reviewers:	Professor Tom Pettersson M.D., Ph.D. Department of Medicine University of Helsinki
	Dr. IIkka Kunnamo, M.D., Ph.D. Saarijärvi-Karstula Health Center
Opponent:	Professor Piet van Riel, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Rheumatology University Medical Centre Nijmegen Netherlands

ISBN 978-951-27-1161-1 ISBN 978-951-27-1058-4 (PDF) ISSN 1235-0303

Kopijyvä Kuopio 2008 Finland Mäkinen, Heidi. Disease Activity and Remission in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Comparision of Available Disease Activity Measures and Development of a Novel Disease Activity Index- the Mean Overall Index for Rheumatoid Arthritis (MOI-RA). Kuopio University Publications D. Medical Sciences 441.2008.129 p. ISBN 978-951-27-1161-1

ISBN 978-951-27-1058-4 (PDF) ISSN 1235-0303

ABSTRACT

Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) should be targeted at remission. The best strategy to achieve this goal is tight disease control and intensive monitoring of disease activity.

The purpose of the present study was to compare different definitions of remission in RA, to study sustainability of remission, and to evaluate DAS28 as an index in the assessment of remission and disease activity in RA. Furthermore, we set out to develop a new, simple disease activity index for RA: the Mean Overall Index of disease activity for RA (MOI-RA).

Two patient populations were analyzed: 1) the clinical cohort included all adult RA patients who were diagnosed at Jyväskylä Central Hospital in 1997 and 1998 (237 patients), and 2) the FIN-RACo trial patients (195 patients).

At five years, 17% of the clinical cohort patients met the ACR remission criteria, 37% met the clinical remission criteria (no tender or swollen joints and normal erythrocyte sedimentation rate [ESR]), and 55% met the criteria for radiographic remission (no worsening of erosions and no new erosions from baseline to five years). Only 12% of the patients met all three sets of remission criteria. In patients with DAS28 remission (DAS28<2.6), 23% had tender joints, 9% had swollen joints, and 6% had both tender and swollen joints.

In the FIN-RACo trial, 68% of the patients who received combination therapy with traditional DMARDs and 41% of the monotherapy patients were in DAS28 remission at 2 years, and remission was sustained in 51% and 16% of the patients, respectively.

ESR had the greatest effect on DAS28 in the FIN-RACo population, followed by tender joint count (TJC), global health, and swollen joint count (SJC).

MOI-RA is the mean of standardized values of TJC and SJC, self reported physical function on the Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ), patient's and physician's assessments of global health and patient's assessment of pain, and ESR. All seven components are standardized, and the mean of standardized values is calculated. The range of MOI-RA is 0-100, higher values indicating poorer outcomes.

The reproducibility of MOI-RA with different joint counts was 0.97. Correlation between MOI-RA28 and DAS28 was 0.90. A simulation in which 15% of the component values of MOI-RA were randomly omitted indicated an intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.98 between incomplete and complete data.

The rate of remission in RA depends on the criteria used. Sustained remission, which is more often achieved by patients receiving combination therapy, protects RA patients against radiographic joint damage. A substantial proportion of patients below the DAS28 cutoff point for remission had tender and/or swollen joints.

The new disease activity index for RA (MOI-RA) proved to be a simple and feasible index for assessment of disease activity and treatment response.

National Library of Medicine Classification: WE 346

Medical Subject Headings: Arthritis, Rheumatoid; Remission Induction; Arthritis, Rheumatoid/therapy; Arthritis, Rheumatoid/drug therapy; Disease Progression; Disability Evaluation; Severity of Illness Index; Arthritis, Rheumatoid/physiopathology; Drug Therapy, Combination; Antirheumatic Agents/therapeutic use; Blood Sedimentation; Arthritis, Rheumatoid/radiography; Health Status

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project started in 2002, when Tuulikki Sokka asked me to examine RA patients who had been diagnosed at Jyväskylä Central Hospital in 1997. This sounded like a good idea at the time because I was tired of the long drive to my job at Jokilaakso Hospital and I needed some rest and a change of routine. However, my agreement to simply examine these patients led to hours of sitting at my laptop in a windowless room, and just when I thought the work was done a new project appeared. I am nevertheless grateful to Tuulikki for presenting me with such a great opportunity to get to know this new area for me of rheumatologic research. I also want to thank Tuulikki for our coffee breaks; they were most inspiring - and besides she always paid for my coffee.

I planned to become a pulmonologist before I met Professor Pekka Hannonen, who subsequently taught me almost everything I know about internal medicine and rheumatology. He was always willing to help me with this project, and if I had something to ask he responded immediately.

I have spent many memorable days in Äänekoski, where our statistician Hannu Kautiainen works. His enthusiasm for our sometimes less than brillant ideas was matched only by his ability to transform them into bright new versions. He is such a genius that I sometimes needed female statistician Salme Järvenpää to translate his ideas into language I could understand. Without Hannu I would never had the change to visit a very nice café in Äänekoski.

I am grateful for the opportunity to use the FIN-RACo data in my doctoral thesis. I want to thank everyone involved in collecting this data. Special thanks go to Professor Timo Möttönen and Professor Marjatta Leirisalo-Repo for making this possible. I also want to thank one particular member of the FIN-RACo group, Docent Markku Korpela. As my boss at Tampere University Hospital he has been most encouraging and given me free time to do my scientific work.

I warmly thank the reviewers of this work Professor Tom Pettersson and Dr Ilkka Kunnamo for their constructive comments.

Thanks to my friends for taking me out and about in the real world while I was buried in the project. I am especially grateful to Päivi Jokiranta for her hospitality - there was always a room in her home for me. Arja Helin-Salmivaara offered me valuable advice on many practical issues, for which I am thankful. When I had setbacks I was always able to call my sisters Anna-Maria and Helena. I appreciate their unfailing honesty, even though it was tough to take on occasions. I also want to thank my parents for supporting me, and my children Elli and Pyry for just for being who they are.

Tampere 28. September 2008

Heidi Mäkinen

CONTENTS

- 1. LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS
- 2. ABBREVIATIONS
- 3. INTRODUCTION
- 4. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE
- 4.1. Rheumatoid arthritis (RA)
- 4.2 Assessment of disease activity in RA
- 4.2.1 Single measures of disease activity in RA
- 4.2.1.1. Joint counts
- 4.2.1.2. Assessment of pain in RA
- 4.2.1.3. Global assessments of severity in RA
- 4.2.1.4. Assessment of function in RA: Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ)
- 4.2.1.5. Acute-phase reactants
- 4.2.1.6. Assessment of fatigue in RA
- 4.2.1.7. Assessment of morning stiffness in RA
- 4.2.2. Radiological Assessment in RA
- 4.2.3. Pooled indices in disease activity assessment of RA
- 4.2.4. Indices based on the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) core data set disease activity measures
- 4.2.4.1. ACR response criteria
- 4.2.4.2. ACR-N and the Hybrid Measure of ARC response
- 4.2.3. Disease Activity Score (DAS)

4.2.3.1.	European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) response
	criteria
4.2.4.	The Simplified Disease Activity Index (SDAI) and the Clinical
	Disease Activity Index (CDAI)
4.2.5.	Patient Reported Outcome (PRO) Indices
4.3.	Remission in RA
4.3.1.	ACR remission criteria
4.3.2.	Remission criteria based on DAS
4.3.3.	Remission criteria based on simplified disease activity indices
4.3.4.	Radiographic remission
4.4.	Minimal Disease Activity (MDA)
4.5.	Remission rates in selected clinical cohorts and randomized
	clinical trials
5.	AIMS OF THE STUDY
6.	PATIENTS AND METHODS
6.1.	Selection of patients and study design
6.1.1.	The clinical cohort patients

- 6.1.2. The Finnish Rheumatoid Arthritis Combination Therapy (FIN-RACo) patients
- 6.1.3. Definitions of remission
- 6.1.4. Definition of sustained remission

6.1.5.	Definitions of disease activity indices and overlapping
	(distribution of values of individual variables between defined
	disease activity states)

- 6.1.5.1. DAS28
- 6.1.5.2. Effects of the individual components of DAS28 on the total DAS28 score ('theoretical model')
- 6.1.5.3. Definition of overlapping
- 6.1.6. Mean Overall Disease Activity Index (MOI-RA)
- 7. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS
- 7.1. Statistical analysis (Study I)
- 7.2. Statistical analysis (Study II)
- 7.3. Statistical analysis (Study III)
- 7.4. Descriptive statistics (Study V)
- 7.5. Criterion validity (Study V)
- 7.6. Responsiveness (Study V)
- 7.7. Sensitivity to change (Study V)
- 8. RESULTS
- 8.1. The clinical cohort and the FIN-RACo trial patients
- 8.2. Remission in RA
- 8.3. DAS28 and MOI-RA in early RA
- 9. DISCUSSION
- 10. SUMMARY AND PROSPECTS
- 11. **REFERENCES**
- 12. ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

1. LIST OF THE ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

I Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Sokka T. Frequency of remissions in early rheumatoid arthritis defined by 3 sets of criteria. A 5-year followup study. J Rheumatol 2005;32(5):796-800.

II Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Möttönen T, Leirisalo-Repo M, Laasonen L, Korpela M, Blåfield H, Hakola M, Sokka T. Sustained remission and reduced radiographic progression with combination disease modifying antirheumatic drugs in early rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 2007;34(2):316-21.

III Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Sokka T. Is DAS28 an appropriate tool to assess remission in rheumatoid arthritis? Ann Rheum Dis 2005;64(10):1410-3.

IV Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Möttönen T, Korpela M, Leirisalo-Repo M, Luukkainen M, Puolakka K, Karjalainen A, Sokka T. Disease activity score 28 as an instrument to measure disease activity in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 2007;34(10):1987-91.

V Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Sokka T. A New Disease Activity Index for Rheumatoid Arthritis: Mean Overall Index for Rheumatoid Arthritis (MOI-RA). J Rheumatol 2008;35(8):1522-7.

2. ABBREVIATIONS

ACR	American College of Rheumatology
ACR-N	Continuous index based the percentage change in the ACR core
	set of disease activity measures
Anti-CCP	Anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide antibodies
ARA	American Rheumatism Association
AUC	Area under curve
CDAI	Clinical Disease Activity Index
CI	Confidence Interval
CRP	C-reactive protein
DAS	Disease Activity Score
DAS28	Disease Activity Score with 28 joints
DMARD	Disease modifying antirheumatic drug
EGA	Evaluator's global assessment of disease activity
ES	Effect size
ESR	Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate
EULAR	European League against Rheumatism
FIN-RACo	Finnish Rheumatoid Arthritis Combination Therapy Trial
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GEE	Generalized estimating equations
GH	Global health
GL	Physician's global assessments
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
HAQ	Stanford Health Assessment Questionnaire
HAQ-DI	HAQ Disability Index
HR	Hazard ratio
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IP	Interphalangeal (joint)
ICC	Intraclass correlation
JSN	Joint space narrowing
IQR	Interquartile range
MCP	Metacarpophalangeal (joint)
MDA	Minimal Disease Activity for Rheumatoid Arthritis
MOI-RA	Mean Overall Disease Activity Index for Rheumatoid Arthritis
MTP	Metatarsophalangeal (joint)
nACR	Number of core set measures improved by $\geq 20\%$
OR	Odds ratio
PGA	Patient global assessment of disease activity
PRO	Patient Reported Outcome
PIP	Proximal interphalangeal joint
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RADAI	Rheumatoid Arthritis Disease Activity Index

RADAR	Rapid Assessment of Disease Activity in Rheumatology
RAPID	Routine Assessment of Patient Index Data
RF	Rheumatoid factor
SE	Shared epitope
SDAI	Simplified Disease Activity Index
SJC	Swollen joint count
SRM	Standardized response mean
TJC	Tender joint count
VAS	Visual analog scale

3. INTRODUCTION

The current treatment approach for patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) involves early initiation of aggressive therapy with disease modifying drugs (DMARDs) and biologic agents (Möttönen *et al.*, 2002; Goekoop-Ruiterman *et al.*, 2005; Sokka *et al.*, 2005). The goal of treatment is remission (Emery & Salmon, 1995; Möttönen *et al.*, 1999). Measurement of disease activity is useful for guiding therapy (Grigor *et al.*, 2004; Fransen *et al.*, 2005; Goekoop-Ruiterman *et al.*, 2005) and a single standardized disease activity index would be most desirable for scientific purposes. Nevertheless, several different definitions of remission and various disease activity indices are currently in use.

The ACR (American College of Rheumatology - formerly ARA, American Rheumatism Association) remission criteria are strict and include nonspecific symptoms such as fatigue (Pinals *et al.*, 1981). More recently, remissions based on the Disease Activity Score (DAS) and DAS28 have been described (Prevoo *et al.*, 1996; van Riel & van Gestel, 2000). However, patients who meet DAS28 remission with values of < 2.6 may still have tender and/or swollen joints (Aletaha *et al.*, 2005b). The ACR remission criteria are more rigorous than those of DAS28<2.6. Newer tools for evaluation of RA activity include the Simplified Disease Activity Index (SDAI), and Clinical Disease Activity Index (CDAI). Remission cut off points for these new composite indices have also been defined (Aletaha & Smolen, 2005). The use of the stringent ACR remission criteria has been replaced with DAS28 remission

criteria that provide higher remission rates. ACR remission criteria have not been used for RA in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) to test the efficacy of biological agents (Mäkinen *et al.*, 2006)

Regular assessments of disease activity can successfully be used in the clinic for guiding treatment (Grigor *et al.*, 2004; Fransen *et al.*, 2005; Goekoop-Ruiterman *et al.*, 2005; Verstappen *et al.*, 2007). Indices are also needed in RCTs to prove the efficacy of a new therapy. Indices used in RCTs to document the efficacy of a treatment of RA include the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) improvement criteria (Felson *et al.*, 1995) (Table 1), later known as the ACR20 response and then succeeded by higher thresholds for improvement, the ACR50 and ACR70 (Felson *et al.*, 1998). The DAS (van der Heijde *et al.*, 1990; van der Heijde *et al.*, 1993) and its modified version including 28 joints (DAS28)(Prevoo *et al.*, 1995), provide European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) response criteria. The ACR and EULAR response criteria are the current standards for monitoring treatment response in RA clinical trials (van Gestel *et al.*, 1996). Minimal disease activity (MDA) of RA can be assessed using definitions that are based on either DAS28 or the ACR core set criteria (Wells *et al.*, 2005).

Recently, additional composite indices have been presented: SDAI (Smolen *et al.*, 2003) and CDAI (Aletaha *et al.*, 2005a). Both are based on a simple sum of the values of outcome parameters: tender (TJC) and swollen (SJC) joint count based on 28 joints, patient's global assessment of disease activity [visual analog scale (VAS) 0-10 cm], physician's global assessment of

disease activity (VAS 0-10 cm), and C-reactive protein (CRP is not included in CDAI). ACR-N (Bathon *et al.*, 2000), the Hybrid Measure of ACR (Committee, 2007) and other continuous indices which are based on ACR core data set measures, assess percentage change in disease activity instead of current disease activity. Indices based only on patient reported outcomes such as the patient activity score (Wolfe *et al.*, 2003) also discriminate effectively between active and control treatments in clinical trials (Pincus *et al.*, 2003; Pincus *et al.*, 2005a; Pincus *et al.*, 2006).

The present study was focused on measurement of disease activity and remission in early RA. The purpose of the study was to compare different definitions of remission in RA, to study sustainability of remission, and to evaluate DAS28 as an index for assessing disease activity in RA. In addition, we set out to develop a novel simple and feasible disease activity index for RA including various dimensions of disease activity.

4. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

4.1. Rheumatoid arthritis (RA)

RA is a heterogeneous autoimmune disease with variable outcome. The primary target of inflammation in RA is the synovium. However, RA is a systemic disease, sometimes with features such as fatigue (Pollard *et al.*, 2006), low-grade fever (Pinals, 1994), anemia (Wolfe & Michaud, 2006), or/and elevations of acute phase reactants (Yildirim *et al.*, 2004). The currently accepted classification criteria for RA are based on the 1987 American College of Rheumatology criteria. These criteria comprise seven components, four of which must be fulfilled (Arnett *et al.*, 1988). Early initiation of treatment is needed to reduce structural damage in RA (Möttönen *et al.*, 2002). The classification criteria for RA were developed in patients with established disease, not early RA. Therefore, the use of these criteria for diagnostic purposes is not reasonable in clinical practice, although they are widely used in RA studies.

Table 1. 1987 Criteria for the Classification of Rheumatoid Arthritis (Arnett *et al.*, 1988)

Criterion	Definition
1. Morning stiffness	Morning stiffness in and around joints, lasting at least 1 hour before maximal improvement
2. Arthritis of 3 or more joint	At least 3 joint areas simultaneously have had soft tissue swelling or fluid (not bony
areas	overgrowth alone) observed by physician. The 14 possible areas are right or left PIP, MCP, wrist, elbow, knee, ankle, and MTP joints
3. Arthritis of hand joints	At least 1 area swollen (as defined above) in a wrist, MCP, or PIP joint
4. Symmetric arthritis	Simultaneous involvement of the same joint areas (as defined in 2) on both sides of the body (bilateral involvement of PIPs, MCPs, or MTPs is acceptable without absolute symmetry)
5. Rheumatoid nodules	Subcutaneous nodules over bony prominences, or extensor surfaces, or in juxtaarticular regions, observed by a physician
6. Serum rheumatoid factor	Demonstration of abnormal amounts of serum rheumatoid factor by any method for which the result have been positive in < 5% of normal control subjects
7. Radiographic changes	Radiographic changes typical of rheumatoid arthritis on posteroanterior hand and wrist radiographs, which must include erosions or unequivocal bony decalcification localized in or most marked adjacent to the involved joints (osteoarthritis changes alone do not qualify)

For classification purposes, a patient shall be said to have RA if he/she has satisfied at least four of these seven criteria. Criteria 1 through 4 must have been present for at least six weeks.

The prevalence of RA varies between countries and areas of the world. The median prevalence estimate for the total population in south European countries is 0.3%, for north European countries 0.5% and for developing countries 0.4% (Alamanos et al., 2006). A retrospective study from USA showed a prevalence of 1% (Gabriel et al., 1999). In Finland 0.8% of the adult population has RA (Hakala et al., 1993; Aho et al., 1998). The annual incidence of RA lies between 26 and 46/100 000 (Symmons et al., 1994; Uhlig et al., 1998; Riise et al., 2000; Soderlin et al., 2002) in most adult populations. The annual incidence of RA in Finland was studied from a nationwide sickness insurance register in a district with a population base of about 1.8 million adults; the incidence of RA was 31.7/100 000 in 1995 (Kaipiainen-Seppänen et al., 2001). The same register was used in 2000, and the incidence of RA was 29.1/100 000 (Kaipiainen-Seppänen & Kautiainen, 2006). A declining trend has been noted in the incidence of rheumatoid factor (RF) positive RA between 1980 and 2000 (Kaipiainen-Seppänen & Kautiainen, 2006). The annual incidence of RA in Kuopio, Finland was 36/100 000 in 2000 (Savolainen et al., 2003).

The etiology of RA is largely unknown. According to epidemiologic studies both genetic and environmental factors contribute to the onset of RA. RA has a heredity of approximately 60% (MacGregor *et al.*, 2000). The genetic and environmental risk factors for RA may be different in different disease subtypes [RF positive/negative, anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide antibody (anti-CCP) positive/negative] (Klareskog *et al.*, 2006a). The most impressive

evidence of an environmental factor exists for smoking (Heliövaara *et al.*, 1993). Klareskog et. al. (Klareskog *et al.*, 2006b) have presented a hypothesis for the etiology of anti-CCP positive RA, in which an environmental agent (smoking) induces citrullination of lung proteins. Adjuvants in the smoke also stimulate the innate immune system, and help to induce immunity to citrullinated proteins preferentially in individuals carrying the HLA-DR shared epitope (SE) genes.

The development of arthritis in RA patients is preceded by the occurrence of autoantibodies years before disease onset (Aho *et al.*, 1985; Klareskog *et al.*, 2006a). Practically every immune cell type and inflammatory mediator has been implicated in the disease process over the course of time (Firestein, 2005). Hypotheses on B-cells are currently of interest because of B-cell targeted therapies (Edwards *et al.*, 2004). T-cell directed treatment approaches have also proved to be effective (Kremer *et al.*, 2003). Cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) and interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-6, IL-18 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) play a crucial role in the pathogenesis of RA (Feldmann *et al.*, 1996). Chronic synovitis is characterized by a complex interplay between multiple cell types and inflammatory mediators.

The most dominant feature of RA is arthritis. The most commonly affected joints are the small joints of hands and feet, with a symmetric pattern of inflammation. The clinical features reflecting systemic involvement in RA include fever, malaise, fatigue and weight loss. RA patients may also have extra-

articular manifestations affecting the vascular system, lungs, kidneys, nervous system, eyes and skin.

The clinical course of RA varies from self limiting or episodic to prolonged and progressive chronic arthritis. The latter may result in extensive joint destruction (Ollier *et al.*, 2001). Today the clinical status of RA patients who have been actively treated is improved compared to previous decades, according to disease activity (Bergstrom *et al.*, 1999; Pincus *et al.*, 2005b), function and structural outcomes (Sokka *et al.*, 2000b; Sokka *et al.*, 2004a; Heiberg *et al.*, 2005; Pincus *et al.*, 2005b; Sokka *et al.*, 2007a), work disability (Puolakka *et al.*, 2005) and mortality (Krause *et al.*, 2000; Choi *et al.*, 2002).

4.2. Assessment of disease activity in RA

A single 'gold standard' measure does not exist for the assessment of RA disease activity_ such as blood pressure or serum cholesterol, to be used in clinical trials, clinical research and clinical care (Pincus & Sokka, 2005). Therefore, a pooled index of several individual measures is required (Smythe *et al.*, 1977).

The ACR preliminary core set of disease activity was published in 1993. These measures consist of tender joint count, swollen joint count, patient's assessment of pain, patient's and physician's assessments of disease activity, self reported physical function, and laboratory evaluation of an acutephase reactant. For studies lasting one year or longer, radiographs are recommended (Felson *et al.*, 1993). Measures were selected based on their sensitivity to change, their lack of redundancy, their content validity (whether they sampled multiple domains of RA activity), and whether they predicted important outcomes in RA, including disability, radiographic damage and death. The ACR criteria for remission (Pinals *et al.*, 1981), the ACR improvement criteria (Felson *et al.*, 1995), and different continuous disease activity indices include these measures in various combinations.

4.2.1. Single measures of disease activity in RA

4.2.1.1. Joint counts

The most important phenomenon in RA is inflammation of joints; consequently measurement of tender and swollen joint counts is an essential part of disease activity measurement in RA. Formal joint counts used in most studies have ranged from 28 to 68 joints.

Joint counts are the principal components of the ACR remission criteria (Pinals *et al.*, 1981) and the ACR core set for clinical trials (Felson *et al.*, 1995). Tender and swollen joint counts are also included in the DAS (van der Heijde *et al.*, 1990; van der Heijde *et al.*, 1993) and in a modified version of the DAS including 28 joints (DAS28) (Prevoo *et al.*, 1995), as well as in newer, more simple indices derived from them: SDAI (Smolen *et al.*, 2003) and CDAI (Aletaha *et al.*, 2005a). Joint counts should be included in the clinical examination of every RA patient at each visit (Scott *et al.*, 2003). However, most visits to a rheumatologist do not include a formal joint count (Pincus & Segurado, 2006).

Abnormalities assessed in joints include swelling, tenderness, pain on motion, limited motion, and deformity. Effusion is a characteristic feature in swollen joints, not bony enlargement or deformity. Joint tenderness is defined as pain induced by pressure or motion on joint examination. Pressure tenderness is often difficult or impossible to assess in shoulder and hip joints. Thus the tenderness of these joints is assessed by pain in motion (Sokka & Pincus, 2005).

The most frequently used joint counts are presented in Table 2. The joint counts including 66/68 joints have been replaced with more limited joint counts in DAS28, SDAI and CDAI. In the original DAS the tender joint count is substituted by the Ritchie Articular Index (Ritchie *et al.*, 1968), which constitutes 52 joints (Table 2). Joints are assessed using the following grading: 0 =non-tender, 1 =tender, 2 =tender with wincing, and 3 =tender with wincing and withdrawal. The range of the Ritchie Index is 0 to 78. The swollen joint count of the original DAS ranges from 0 to 44 (van der Heijde *et al.*, 1990; van der Heijde *et al.*, 1993) (Table 2).

Joint counts may also be a part of self administered questionnaires assessing disease activity in RA. The Rapid Assessment of Disease Activity in Rheumatology (RADAR) index includes the patient self reported joint count as a component (Mason *et al.*, 1992). The Rheumatoid Arthritis Disease Activity Index (RADAI) is a further development of RADAR (Stucki *et al.*, 1995). In the RADAI-index, the patients rate their joint pain as 0= none, 1= mild, 2=

moderate, 3=severe in the right and left shoulders, elbows, wrists, fingers, hips, knees, ankles and toes.

Table 2. Joints included in different joint counts.

Joints	28 joints (Fuchs et al., 1989a)	42 joints (Sokka & Pincus, 2003a)	44 joints (van der Heijde et al., 2006)	66/68 joints	<i>Ritchie Index (Ritchie et al., 1968)</i>
Temporomandibular				+	+
Sternoclavicular			+	+	+
Acromioclavicular			+	+	+
Shoulder	+	+	+	+	+
Elbow	+	+	+	+	+
Wrist	+	+	+	+	+
Metacarpophalangeal (1-5)	+	+	+	+	+
Proximal interphalangeal (1-5)	+	+	+	+	
Distal interphalangeal (2-5)				+	
Hip (assessed for tenderness only)		+		+	+
Knee	+	+	+	+	+
Ankle		+	+	+	+
Talocalcaneal					+
Tarsus				+	+
Metatarsophalangeal (1-5)		+	+	+	+
Proximal interphalangeal (1-5)				+	

4.2.1.2. Assessment of pain in RA

Pain is a common symptom in the general population and its prevalence increases with advancing age. Pain is the major reason for RA patients to seek medical care and is the priority area for improvement of health for RA patients (Heiberg & Kvien, 2002). However, pain is not generally recorded by health professionals. The experience of pain is subjective and difficult to measure (Sokka, 2003). Extensive self-report research questionnaires have been developed to measure the quantitative and qualitative properties of pain (Huskisson, 1974). These questionnaires may be difficult and time-consuming to use in clinical settings.

A visual analog pain scale was initially used in psychology in the early 1900s (Sokka, 2005). This approach was adopted by rheumatologists in the 1970s, with the emphasis that 'severity of pain is only known to the sufferer' (Huskisson, 1974). The standard visual analog scale (VAS) is a 10 cm scale with a border at each end. The left border represents 'no pain' and the severity of pain increases to the right; accordingly the right border is characterized as 'pain as severe as it could be'.

Widespread musculoskeletal pain was reported by a quarter of 1002 community dwelling elderly women in the US (Leveille *et al.*, 2001). Pain was found to be the leading reason for a general practitioner visit in Finland. In the 15-74 year old Finnish population, 35.1% suffer from chronic pain, and the prevalence of pain increases with age (Mäntyselkä *et al.*, 2003).

Pain is a component of the ACR response criteria (Felson *et al.*, 1995), and absence of joint pain is included in the ACR remission criteria for RA (Pinals *et al.*, 1981). On a 100 mm VAS scale < 10 mm has been interpreted as no pain (Sokka & Pincus, 2003b). The Minimal Disease Activity for Rheumatoid Arthritis (MDA) core set definition for pain cut-off is \leq 20 mm on a VAS (Wells *et al.*, 2005). In an elderly Finnish population the mean pain VAS was 20 mm(Krishnan *et al.*, 2005).

4.2.1.3. Global assessments of severity in RA

All disease activity indices include a patient self-report global measure; this is defined as 'global health' (GH) in the DAS and the DAS28 indices, and as 'patient global assessment of disease activity' (PGA) in the SDAI and the CDAI indices. Global health includes a broader spectrum of aspects of health, and not all are directly related to RA. Smedstad et al. (Smedstad *et al.*, 1997) found strong correlations between GH and pain, depression, disability and tender joints, while ESR, CRP, and X-ray abnormalities correlated weakly with GH. The physician's impression of disease activity is supposed to influence clinical decisions with regard to intensifying or reducing treatment of RA. Patients often score their disease activity at a higher level than physicians do (Yazici *et al.*, 2001; Nicolau *et al.*, 2004). Physicians seem to weight findings which are regarded as more objective, like abnormal laboratory tests or swollen joint counts. Both GH and physician's global

assessments (GL) are part of the ACR core set of improvement for RA and SDAI, while GL is not included in DAS and DAS28.

4.2.1.4. Assessment of function in RA: The Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ)

Patient-reported outcomes (PROs) provide knowledge about patient's health, functional status, symptoms, treatment preferences, satisfaction and quality of life from their own personal perspective. The Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ) introduced in 1980 is among the first PRO instruments that was initially designed to present a model of patient-oriented outcome assessment (Fries *et al.*, 1980; Bruce & Fries, 2005).

HAQ consists of the HAQ Disability Index (HAQ-DI), pain VAS, and patient global VAS. HAQ-DI includes questions about fine movements of the upper extremity, locomotor activities of the lower extremity, and activities that involve both the upper and lower extremities. There are 20 questions in eight categories of functioning: dressing, arising, eating, walking, hygiene, reaching, gripping, and performing tasks. Patient's responses describing abilities over the past week are scored as follows: 0= without any difficulty, 1= with some difficulty, 2= with much difficulty, and 3= unable to do it. The highest component in each category determines the score of that category, unless aids or devices are required. Dependence on equipment or physical assistance increases a lower score to the level of 2. A complementary scoring method ignores the score for aids and devices and represents residual disability after compensatory

efforts. The HAQ-DI score ranges from 0 to 3: scores of 0 to 1 are generally considered to represent mild to moderate disability, from 1 to 2 moderate to severe disability, and from 2 to 3 severe to very severe disability (Bruce & Fries, 2003) . The HAQ has been translated into numerous languages, has been used extensively in RA studies, and is a component of ACR response criteria (Felson *et al.*, 1995). HAQ has been assessed in a random sample of 1530 elderly Finnish population, producing a mean value of 0.25; at least some disability was seen in 32% of responders (Krishnan *et al.*, 2004).

The modified HAQ, derived from the original HAQ, was published 1983 (Pincus *et al.*, 1983). The number of questions was limited to eight instead of 20, and one question in each category of HAQ was included. The sum of scores for the questions is divided by eight to achieve a score of 0-3.

HEALTH ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE (HAQ)

ID _____ Date of Birth _____ Today's Date _____

This questionnaire includes information not available from blood tests, X-rays, or any source other than you. Please try to answer each question, even if you do not think it is related to you at this time. <u>There are no right or wrong answers.</u> Please answer exactly as you think or feel. Thank you.

1. We are interested in learning how your illness affects your ability to function in daily life. Please check ($\sqrt{}$) the one best answer which best describes your usual abilities OVER THE PAST WEEK:

	Without ANY	With SOME	With MUCH	UNABLE <u>To</u>	
	Difficulty(0)	<u>Difficulty</u> (1)	Difficulty(2)	<u>D0(</u> 3)	
(X) Dress yourself, including tying shoelaces and doing buttons?					
- Shampoo your hair?					
ARISING					
Are you able to:					
- Stand up from a straight chair?					
(X) Get in and out of bed?					
EATING					
Are you able to:					
- Cut your meat?					
(X) Lift a full cup or glass to your mouth?					
- Open a new milk carton?					
WALKING					
Are you able to:					
(X) Walk outdoors on flat ground?					
- Climb up five steps?					
2. Please check any AIDS OR DEVICES that you Cane Use Walker Crutches Wheelchair	t you usually use for any of these activities: Devices used for dressing (button hook, zipper pull, long-handled shoe horn, etc.) Built up or special utensils Special or built up chair Other (Specify:)				
3. Please check any categories for which you usu Dressing and Grooming Arising	ually need HELP	FROM ANOTHE Ea Wa	R PERSON: ting alking		
 How much pain have you had OVER THE PAS indicate how severe your pain has been: 	ST WEEK? Place	e a mark on the I	ine below to		

PAIN AS BAD IT COULD BE

5. Please check the response which best describes your usual abilities OVER THE PAST WEEK:

HYGIENE	Without ANY Difficultv(0)	With SOME Difficulty(1)	With MUCH Difficultv(2)	UNABLE To Do(3)
Are you able to:	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	(-)
(X) Wash and dry your body?				
- Take a tub bath?				
- Get on and off the toilet?				
REACH				
Are you able to:				
 Reach and get down a 5 pound object (such as a bag of sugar) from just above your head? 				
(X) Bend down to pick up clothing from the floor?				
GRIP				
Are you able to:				
- Open car doors?				
- Open jars which have previously been opened?				
(X) Turn faucets on and off?				
ACTIVITIES				
Are you able to:				
- Run errands and shop?				
(X) Get in and out of a car?				
- Do chores such as vacuuming or vard work?				
 Please check any AIDS OR DEVICES that you control of the seat and the	ou usually use for	any of these activ	vities:	
Long-handled appliances for	reach			

__)

_____ Gripping and opening things

___ Errands and chores

VERY POORLY

Jar opener (for jars previously opened) Long-handled appliances in bathroom Other (Specify: _____

7. Please check any categories for which you usually need HELP FROM ANOTHER PERSON:

Considering all the ways in which illness and health conditions may affect you at this time, please make a mark below to show how you are doing:

_____ Hygiene _Reach

(X) Questions of the modified HAQ

8.

VERY WELL

4.2.1.5. Acute-phase reactants

Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-reactive protein (CRP) are used to determine the acute phase reactions in disease activity measures for RA. They also increase in other inflammatory conditions, infections and malignancies. Although acute-phase reactants are non-specific they correlate with disease activity and radiographic damage in RA (Graudal *et al.*, 2000; Yildirim *et al.*, 2004). However, 25- 50% of patients with RA have normal ESR values, and more than a quarter of patients with severe or very severe RA has been reported to have an ESR value of 20 mm/h or less (Wolfe & Michaud, 1994; Sokka & Pincus, 2003b).

CRP is more sensitive to short term changes in disease activity than ESR. Furthermore, ESR can be influenced by factors such as age, gender, fibrinogen levels, hypergammaglobulinemia, RF and anemia (Miller *et al.*, 1983; Talstad *et al.*, 1983; Kushner, 1991). CRP correlated better with other measures of disease activity than ESR (Mallya *et al.*, 1982). However, CRP concentrations also tend to increase with age. Gender influences CRP, too, with higher values in women than men. (Wener *et al.*, 2000).

ESR and CRP have proven to be equally useful as an acute phase component of the ACR20 improvement criterion (Paulus *et al.*, 1999). Originally DAS and DAS28 included ESR. The formula to calculate DAS28-CRP is suggested to provide a good estimation of DAS28-ESR values on a group level. However, DAS28-CRP significantly underestimates disease activity and overestimates the improvement of disease activity compared to DAS28-ESR

(Matsui *et al.*, 2007a), and the threshold values of DAS28-CRP should be reconsidered (Inoue *et al.*, 2007). CDAI is the only disease activity index without an acute-phase reactant (Aletaha *et al.*, 2005a)

4.2.1.6. Assessment of fatigue in RA

Experience of fatigue has been reported by a large proportion of people with RA (Kirwan & Hewlett, 2007). The causality of RA fatigue is multidimensional, involving inflammation, pain, anemia, poor sleep and psychosocial factors (Wolfe *et al.*, 1996). It has been shown that fatigue is strongly associated with pain (Huyser *et al.*, 1998; Pollard *et al.*, 2006). Clinically relevant levels of fatigue are present in 41- 80% of patients with RA (Wolfe *et al.*, 1996; Pollard *et al.*, 2006). However, fatigue is shown to be even more common in patients with fibromyalgia (Wolfe *et al.*, 1996). Requirement of no fatigue is included in the ACR remission criteria (Pinals *et al.*, 1981).

4.2.1.7. Assessment of morning stiffness in RA

Prolonged morning stiffness is regarded as a characteristic symptom of inflammatory arthritis and in particular of RA. However, Yazici et al. (Yazici *et al.*, 2001) observed that morning stiffness did not differ among patients with RA and those with osteoarthritis. Duration of morning stiffness exceeding 15 min is not allowed in the ACR remission criteria (Pinals *et al.*, 1981).

4.2.2. Radiological Assessment in RA

Radiographic imaging may be regarded as the 'gold standard' when assessing disease progression in RA (van der Heijde, 2000). Plain radiography of hands and feet are still performed, although newer methods such as magnetic resonance imaging and power-doppler ultrasound are available. Radiographs of hands and feet can easily be performed; they are relatively cheap, and standardized scoring methods have been established.

Two major scoring systems with a number of modifications are available: the Larsen method (Larsen et al., 1977; Larsen, 1995; Scott et al., 1995) and the Sharp (Sharp et al., 1971; van der Heijde, 1999) method. In the original version of the Larsen method, joints of hands and feet are graded as follows: 0= normal, 1= slight abnormalities [periarticular soft tissue swelling, periarticular osteoporosis and joint space narrowing (JSN)], 2= definite early abnormalities, 3= medium destructive abnormalities, 4= severe definite abnormalities, 5= mutilating abnormalities. Each wrist is considered as one unit and the score is multiplied by five; the other joints included are ten DIP, eight PIP, ten MCP, ten MTP and two IP joints of big toes. Modifications of the Larsen score include omitting soft tissue swelling and osteoporosis that are often impossible to detect. A new grading was designed as: 0= intact bony out line and normal joint space, 1= erosion less than 1 mm in diameter or joint space narrowing, 2= one or several small erosions (diameter > 1mm), 3= marked erosions, 4= severe erosions: there is usually no joint space left, 5= mutilating changes, the original bony outlines have been destroyed (Larsen, 1995).

Based on the number of joints included the maximal score ranges from 100 to 250 (Kaarela & Kautiainen, 1997; Korpela *et al.*, 2004). A standard set of radiographs for grading exists.

As the original Sharp method grades only the radiographs of hands, the modification of van der Heijde is applied in many studies (van der Heijde, 1999). This modification scores the presence of erosions in 16 joints of hands and wrists (graded from 0 to 5), and in six joints of the feet (graded from 0 to 10), and the presence of JSN in 15 joints of the hands and wrists (graded from 0 to 4) and in six joints of the feet (graded from 0 to 4). The maximal grade for erosions is 280 units and for JSN 168; the maximum total score is 448.

4.2.3. Pooled indices in disease activity assessment of RA

As no single measure can serve as a 'gold standard' to assess disease activity in RA, a pooled index of several individual measures is required (Smythe *et al.*, 1977).

Indices used in RCTs to document the efficacy of a treatment include the ACR improvement criteria (Felson *et al.*, 1995) (presented in Table 4), and the DAS (van der Heijde *et al.*, 1990; van der Heijde *et al.*, 1993) and DAS28 (table 5) (Prevoo *et al.*, 1995), which provide the European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) response criteria for RA (presented in Table 6). Recently, additional composite indices have been presented: SDAI (Smolen *et al.*, 2003) and CDAI (Aletaha *et al.*, 2005a)
Measures	ACR core set of disease activity	DAS	DAS28	SDAI	CDAI
Number of tender joints	68	RAI (52 joints)	28 joint count	28 joint count	28 joint count
Number of swollen joints	66	44 joint count	28 joint count	28 joint count	28 joint count
Patient's assessment of pain	VAS 0-100	-	-	-	-
Patient's global assessment of disease activity	VAS 0-100	-	-	VAS 0-10	VAS 0-10
Patient's global health	-	VAS 0-100	VAS 0-100	-	-
Evaluator's (physician's) global assessment of disease activity	VAS 0-100	-	-	VAS 0-10	VAS 0-10
Patient's assessment of physical function	HAQ 0-3	-	-	-	-
Acute phase reactants	ESR/CRP	ESR (formula for DAS- CRP also available)	ESR (formula for DAS28-CRP also available)	CRP in mg/dL (0.1-10.0)	-

Table 3. Measures of ACR core set of disease activity and composite indices.

4.2.4. Indices based on the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) core data set disease activity measures

4.2.4.1. ACR response criteria for RA

The ACR preliminary definition of improvement in RA (Table 4), published in 1995, has been widely adopted as a primary outcome measure in RA clinical trials (Felson *et al.*, 1995). Validation studies have confirmed the ability of ACR20 to discriminate active treatment from placebo (Pillemer *et al.*, 1997). The improvement in disease activity achieved in ACR20 is not very large, so higher thresholds for improvement such as ACR50 and ACR70 have also been used in clinical trials. ACR response criteria are further widely used in RCTs to show the efficacy of a new drug compared to placebo (Genovese *et al.*, 2005; Breedveld *et al.*, 2006; Emery *et al.*, 2006; van der Heijde *et al.*, 2006). One proposed way to use ACR response criteria is nACR, where n is the number of core set measures improved by \ge 20% (Committee, 2007).

The set of ACR improvement criteria has some shortcomings. Being based on a change of disease activity it cannot be used in cross sectional settings. Furthermore, the ACR response criteria do not recognize possible worsening of the patient's status.

Table 4. ACR core data set for RA trials and ACR improvement criteria requirements

ACR core set of disease activity for RA trials	ACR improvement	
	criteria requirements	
Tender joints	≥ 20% improvement	
Swollen joints	≥ 20% improvement	
Patient's assessment of pain (VAS)		
Patient's global assessment of disease activity (VAS)	≥ 20% improvement in 3	
Physician's global assessment of disease activity (VAS)	of the 5 measures	
Patient's assessment of physical function		
Acute-phase reactant value		

4.2.4.2. ACR-N and the Hybrid Measure of ACR response

ACR-N (Bathon *et al.*, 2000) and the Hybrid Measure of ACR (Committee, 2007) are continuous indices based on ACR core data set measures and they both assess percentage change in disease activity instead of current disease activity in RA patients.

The ACR-N provides a single number that characterizes the percentage of improvement from baseline that a patient has experienced, in analogy to ACR20, ACR50 and ACR70 responses. ACR-N is determined by calculating the smallest degree of improvement from baseline in the following three criteria: number of tender joints, number of swollen joints, and median value of the five remaining measures of the core set of disease activity measures. A patient with an ACR-N of X means that they have achieved an improvement of at least X% in tender and swollen joints and an improvement of at least X% in three of the other five parameters (Siegel & Zhen, 2005). ACR-N

can also be used to define worsening of disease by negative values. Another way to apply ACR-N in a clinical trial is to compare area under curve (AUC) by patient over time. This approach may substantially increase the power to detect small differences between treatment arms (Siegel & Zhen, 2005).

The ACR committee reevaluated the improvement criteria and proposed a revision of the ACR20 in 2007: the Hybrid Measure of ACR (Committee, 2007). This measure combines the ACR20, ACR50 and ACR70 and is a continuous score of the mean improvement in core set measures. This continuous measure assesses the change of disease activity, but current disease activity cannot be measured. However, this new measure has greater statistical power to distinguish the efficacy of treatments than the ACR20 improvement.

4.2.5. Disease Activity Score (DAS)

Disease Activity Score (DAS) was proposed in the early nineties to assess disease activity in RA (van der Heijde *et al.*, 1990; van der Heijde *et al.*, 1993). DAS was developed from physician's decisions to cease, maintain or start DMARDs in RA patients. DAS is a continuous index using four selected components. Square root and logarithm are used to provide normal distribution (Fransen & van Riel, 2005) (Table 5).

The original DAS contains the Ritchie Articular Index (Ritchie *et al.*, 1968) (RAI, range 0-78), a 44 swollen joint count (range 0-44), ESR, and patient's general health (GH) on VAS (0-100). DAS has a continuous scale from

0 to 10. Level of disease activity can be interpreted as low (DAS \leq 2.4), moderate (2.4< DAS \leq 3.7) or high (DAS> 3.7). DAS< 1.6 corresponds to remission according to the ACR remission criteria. Different versions of DAS include one without GH, and a version in which ESR is replaced with CRP (Table 5).

DAS28 is an index derived from the original DAS with fewer joints included (Figure 1). DAS28 consists of a 28 tender joint count (range 0-28), a 28 swollen joint count (range 0-28), ESR, and GH on a VAS scale (range 0-100) (Table 5) (Prevoo *et al.*, 1995). DAS28 is a continuous index ranging from 0 to 9.4. Although DAS and DAS28 cannot be directly compared, a formula to transform DAS to DAS28 is available (van Gestel *et al.*, 1998). Low disease activity is defined as DAS28≤ 3.2, moderate as 3.2 < DAS28 ≤ 5.1, and high as DAS28> 5.1 (van Gestel *et al.*, 1998). A commonly used cutoff point for remission is DAS28< 2.6 (Fransen *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 1. Joints included in the DAS28

Modifications of DAS28 include one in which ESR is substituted by CRP and another with only three components (GH omitted). A recent large observational study indicated that values of DAS28-CRP are significantly lower than those of the original DAS28 (Matsui *et al.*, 2007a). DAS28-CRP threshold values corresponding to remission, low disease activity, and high disease activity have been shown to be lower than the corresponding threshold values for original DAS28: 2.3 vs. 2.6, 2.7 vs. 3.2 and 4.1 vs. 5.1, respectively (Inoue *et al.*, 2007). DAS formulas require complex calculations involving square roots and log transformations. However, calculators are easily obtained from the web site (DAS). Table 5. Different DAS formulas

Different DAS formulas

DAS= 0.54 * sqrt (RAI) + 0.065* (SJC44)+ 0.33*Ln (ESR)+ 0.0072* GH DAS(3)= 0.54* sqrt (RAI) + 0.065* (SJC44)+ 0.33*Ln (ESR)+ 0.22 DAS-CRP= 0.54* sqrt (RAI) + 0.065* (SJC44)+ 0.17*Ln (CRP+ 1)+ 0.0072*GH +0.45 DAS-CRP(3)= 0.54* sqrt (RAI) + 0.065* (SJC44)+ 0.17*Ln (CRP+ 1)+ 0.65 DAS remission< 1.6, low \leq 2.4, moderate >2.4 and \leq 3.7, and high disease activity >3.7 DAS28= 0.56*sqrt (TJC28)+ 0.28*sqrt (SJC28)+ 0.70*Ln (ESR)+ 0.014*GH DAS28(3)= [0.56*sqrt (TJC28)+ 0.28*sqrt (SJC28)+ 0.70*Ln (ESR)]* 1.08+ 0.16 DAS28-CRP= 0.56*sqrt (TJC28)+ 0.28*sqrt (SJC28)+ 0.36*Ln(CRP+1)+ 0.014*GH+ 0.96 DAS28-CRP(3)= [0.56*sqrt (TJC28)+ 0.28*sqrt (SJC28)+ 0.36*Ln(CRP+1)] *1.10+ 1.15 DAS28 remission< 2.6, low \leq 3.2, moderate >3.2 and \leq 5.1, and high disease activity > 5.1DAS28= 1.072* DAS+ 0.932

4.2.5.1. European League against Rheumatism (EULAR) response criteria

In general, the efficacy of a therapy is defined by comparing means of changes in disease activity variables between the treatment and placebo groups. However, the difference between mean changes in groups of patients does not indicate the number of patients who have responded to treatment. Therefore, in addition to disease activity, the response of individual patients to antirheumatic therapy is essential in clinical trials. Based on good group results we do not know whether a large number of patients have improved moderately or a small number of patients have improved substantially.

The EULAR response criteria were based on DAS (van Gestel *et al.*, 1996) and later validated on DAS28 (van Gestel *et al.*, 1998). The EULAR response criteria classify patients as good, moderate or non-responders, using the amount of change in the DAS/DAS28 of an individual patient, and the DAS/DAS28 value achieved. A change of 1.2 is considered significant (Table 6).

A high level of agreement between ACR and EULAR improvement has been shown (van Gestel *et al.*, 1999). Both can be applied in clinical trials. Van Gestel et. al (van Gestel *et al.*, 1999) recommend assessing the components of both criteria and choosing in advance which criteria to use as primary and secondary endpoints.

Value achieved		Change in DAS or DAS28 from baseline		
DAS28	DAS	> 1.2	>0.6 and ≤	≤ 0.6
			1.2	
≤ 3.2	≤ 2.4	Good		
> 3.2 and ≤	>2.4 and ≤		Moderate	
5.1	3.7			
> 5.1	> 3.7			Non

Table 6. EULAR improvement criteria

4.2.6. The Simplified Disease activity index (SDAI) and the Clinical Disease Activity Index (CDAI)

In addition to DAS, the currently available composite disease indices providing a single number on a continuous scale are the Simplified Disease Activity Index (SDAI) (Smolen *et al.*, 2003) and the Clinical Disease Activity Index (CDAI) (Aletaha *et al.*, 2005a). SDAI constitutes a simple numerical addition of individual measures on their original scale. The range of SDAI is 0.1- 86.0. This idea overcomes the problems of transformations and weighting. SDAI includes both the evaluator's and patient's assessments of disease activity. The inclusion of CRP instead of ESR was made for several reasons: CRP is the most reliable variable of the acute phase response and CRP levels have prognostic value in RA (Otterness, 1994), and CRP is less confounded by other factors than ESR, and has been shown to correlate better with other disease activity measures (Mallya *et al.*, 1982) (Table 3. and Table 7.).

CDAI was derived from SDAI and is the only composite index without an acute phase reactant. It is also a simple sum of disease activity measures ranging from 0 to 76. In the validation study of CDAI, Aletaha et al. (Aletaha *et al.*, 2005a) conclude that acute phase reactants add little information beyond the combination of clinical variables included in SDAI. The authors suggest that CDAI will prove of greatest value in clinical practice rather than

research, where acute phase reactants are nearly always available (Table 3 and Table 7).

SDAI and CDAI are feasible indices for which a calculator is not necessary. They are also easy to understand for the patient, which may improve outcomes, as has been the case in other chronic diseases (Egan *et al.*, 2003; Rachmani *et al.*, 2005). Table 7. Formulas for the Simplified Disease Activity Index and the Clinical Disease Activity Index

SDAI and CDAI

SDAI= SJC28+ TJC28+ PGA+ EGA+ CRP (in mg/dl)

CDAI= SJC28+ TJC28+ PGA+EGA

PGA= patient's global assessment of disease activity VAS 0-10 EGA= evaluator's global assessment of disease activity VAS 0-10 CRP range 0.1- 10.0, CRP more than 10 are replaced by value 10

4.2.7. Patient self-report outcomes (PRO) indices

It has been shown that RA patients are reliable and accurate reporters of their own symptoms and signs (Stewart *et al.*, 1990; Mason *et al.*, 1992). Rheumatologists have rated examination of joints the most important measure of disease activity in both randomized trials and clinical care (Wolfe *et al.*, 2003). Nonetheless, most visits to rheumatologists do not include a formal quantitative joint count (Pincus & Segurado, 2006). A practical quantitative index, like the patient self report joint count, to monitor clinical status without formal joint counts by the rheumatologist could be of considerable value in a busy clinical setting (Pincus *et al.*, 2007a). The value of such an index in discriminating active and control treatments has also been confirmed (Pincus *et al.*, 2006). On this basis, the use of patient reported outcome indices has been suggested to be useful both in clinical work and clinical trials.

The Rapid Assessment of Disease Activity in Rheumatology (RADAR) questionnaire is a one page (2 sides) questionnaire about disease activity, clinical status and joint pain/tenderness, which includes six items and can be completed by the patient alone (Mason *et al.*, 1992). The Rheumatoid Activity Index (RADAI) is also a self-administered questionnaire based on RADAR, and it combines five items in a single index. The items ask the patient about their 1) global disease activity in the last six months, 2) disease activity in terms of current tender and swollen joints, 3) arthritis pain, 4) duration of morning stiffness, and 5) tender joints to be rated in a joint list. The first three items are rated from 0 to 10, and duration of morning stiffness from 0 to 6, and tender joints from 0 to 48, but are transformed into a single 0 to 10 scale. The values of items are summed and divided by the number of items. The original goal of the RADAI was to provide an easily used assessment of disease activity in RA (Stucki *et al.*, 1995).

The Patient Activity Scale (PAS) is composed of pain VAS, patient global VAS, and the HAQ. The index is formed by multiplying HAQ by 3.33 and dividing the sum of these items by three (Wolfe *et al.*, 2005a). Pincus et al. (Pincus *et al.*, 2003) reported already in 2003 a similar index, and showed its ability to distinguish active treatment from placebo. It was later named RAPID 3. RAPID 4 adds a RADAI self-report joint count to RAPID 3. The RADAI score scale of 0- 48 is converted to 0- 10. The raw RAPID is divided by four to give a score of 0- 10 (Pincus *et al.*, 2007a). Pincus et al. (Pincus *et al.*, 2007b)

proposed a continuous quality improvement strategy based on routine assessment of patient index data (RAPID) scores in standard clinical care.

4.3. Remission in RA

No single definition for remission exists and several criteria for remission have been developed. Previously, definitions of remission included phrases such as "full recovery" (Corrigan *et al.*, 1974), "no joint swelling" (Sharp *et al.*, 1982), "absence of swollen joints or tender joints" (McCarty *et al.*, 1995), "inactive disease" (Duthie *et al.*, 1957), "complete control of synovitis and normal erythrocyte sedimentation rate" (Sambrook *et al.*, 1982), and "being symptom free" (Nissilä *et al.*, 1983; Wolfe *et al.*, 1993). In some studies remission has been an outcome without any definition (Csuka *et al.*, 1986; Williams *et al.*, 1992; Hannonen *et al.*, 1993).

Remission is usually defined using ACR remission criteria or is based on a continuous disease activity index with a cutoff point for remission usually derived from the ACR remission criteria. This means that most patients with disease activity below that cutoff point are in remission, but some may still have active disease (Aletaha *et al.*, 2005b; Mierau *et al.*, 2007). Composite indices with a cutoff point for remission include DAS, DAS28, SDAI and CDAI. In addition to cross sectional remission, sustained remission has been studied (van der Heijde *et al.*, 2005; Listing *et al.*, 2006; Mierau *et al.*, 2007).

4.3.1. ACR remission criteria

Preliminary remission criteria for RA were proposed by a committee of ARA (now ACR) in 1981 (Pinals et al., 1981) (Table 8). To develop these criteria, 35 rheumatologists were asked to collect information from 35 RA patients concerning symptoms, laboratory data, and information on results of joint examination. These rheumatologists then classified patients into four categories: complete remission without drugs, complete remission with drugs, partial remission, and active disease. These variables were analyzed to select those that best discriminated patients in remission from those with active disease. Of these criteria sets tested among RA patients in remission or with partial remission or active disease, six criteria were chosen. If four of the criteria were met, sensitivity was 90% and specificity 69% for complete remission. If five of the criteria were met, the corresponding figures were 72% and 92%. A duration requirement of two months was chosen, as 90% of patients in remission fulfilled this criterion. The use of the ACR remission criteria has been heterogeneous; requirement of no fatigue is often omitted and the number of criteria required for remission varies among different studies.

Table 8. The ACR criteria for clinical remission in rheumatoid arthritis (Pinals *et al.*, 1981).

	Five or more of the following requirements must be fulfilled for at least two consecutive months
1.	Duration of morning stiffness not exceeding 15 minutes
2.	No fatigue
3.	No joint pain (by history)
4.	No joint tenderness or pain in motion
5.	No soft tissue swelling in joints or tendon sheaths
6.	Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (Westergren method) less than 30
	mm/hour for a female or 20 mm/hour for a male

4.3.2 Remission criteria based on DAS

DAS (van der Heijde *et al.*, 1990; van der Heijde *et al.*, 1993) and its modified version DAS28 (Prevoo *et al.*, 1995) including 28 joints were developed to assess disease activity in RA. Cutoff points for both indices corresponding to the ACR remission criteria have been defined. Prevoo et al. (Prevoo *et al.*, 1996) compared ACR and DAS remission criteria with the observation that DAS<1.6 corresponds to ACR remission criteria. A remission cut point of DAS28<2.6 was found to correspond to DAS <1.6 based on a formula developed to convert DAS to DAS28 (van Riel & van Gestel, 2000), and therefore DAS28<2.6 has been used to define remission in RA. In the study of Fransen et al. (Fransen *et al.*, 2004) DAS28< 2.6 corresponded with fulfillment of the modified ACR remission criteria. DAS28-CRP remission was used as the outcome measure in one RCT (Genovese *et al.*, 2008).

4.3.3. Remission criteria based on simplified disease activity indices

Aletaha et al. (Aletaha & Smolen, 2005) analyzed ratings of RA patients by expert rheumatologists for disease activity to define a cutoff point for SDAI and CDAI remissions. The cutoff points for remission for SDAI and CDAI were defined as 3.3 and 2.8, respectively.

4.3.4. Radiographic remission

Radiographic imaging may be regarded as the 'gold standard' for assessing disease progression in RA (van der Heijde, 2000). The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has formulated the most rigorous definition of remission: ACR remission criteria must be met in addition to radiological arrest of joint damage progression (Sharp/van der Heijde or Larsen method). These criteria include a time period requirement of six months (Sesin & Bingham, 2005; van der Helm-van Mil AHM, 2006).

Jäntti et al. (Jäntti *et al.*, 2001) assessed radiographs of hands and feet over 20 years according to the Larsen score (scale 1–100). If the score did not increase more than one point compared to radiographs taken 5–19 years earlier, the patient was considered to be in radiographic remission; the radiographic remission rate was 26% at 20 years.

4.4. Minimal disease activity for RA (MDA)

The need for a definition of MDA for patients with RA originated from the observation that achieving and maintaining low disease activity is

probably more important in the long term than the high percentage improvement from very high disease activity level which was documented in many RCTs. Furthermore, strict remission is not a common feature in clinical practice. The threshold for MDA is between moderate disease activity and remission and according to the definition anyone in remission will also be in MDA (Wells *et al.*, 2005).

All patients with no swollen joints, no tender joints and ESR≤ 10 mm/h are in MDA. Besides, MDA has two different definitions: the core set definition (Figure 2) and DAS28 definition (Figure 3). The DAS28 defines that patients are in MDA when DAS28 ≤ 2.85. According to the core set definition five of seven of the following criteria have to be fulfilled: 1) pain (0-10) ≤ 2; 2) swollen joint count (0-28) ≤ 1; 3) tender joint count (0-28) ≤ 1; 4) Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ 0-3) ≤ 0.5; 5) physician global assessment of disease activity (0-10) ≤ 1.5; 6) patient global assessment of disease activity (0-10) ≤ 2; 7) ESR ≤ 20 (Wells *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 2. The core set definition for minimal disease activity for RA. Pain \leq 2; swollen joint count (SJC) \leq 1; tender joint count (TJC) \leq 1; Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ) \leq 0.5; physician global assessment \leq 1.5; patient global assessment \leq 2; ESR \leq 20 mm/h.



Figure 3. The DAS based definition for minimal disease activity for RA. SJC: swollen joint count; TJC: tender joint count; ESR: erythrocyte sedimentation rate; DAS: disease activity score

4.5. Remission rates in selected clinical cohorts and randomized clinical trials

ACR remission criteria have been used in randomized clinical trials concerning traditional DMARDs, with remission rates of 7% to 37% (Wolfe & Hawley, 1985; Möttönen *et al.*, 1999; Ferraccioli *et al.*, 2002; Gerards *et al.*, 2003; Korpela *et al.*, 2004), and in clinical cohorts with remission rates of 0% to 32% (Suarez-Almazor *et al.*, 1994; Möttönen *et al.*, 1996; Eberhardt & Fex, 1998; Young *et al.*, 2000; Lindqvist *et al.*, 2002; Khanna *et al.*, 2007). The ACR remission criteria have not been used in RCTs of biological agents.

The FIN-RACo trial used a rigorous modification of the ACR remission criteria, requiring all five criteria (fatigue excluded) to be met. Nonetheless, after two years, 37% of the patients who received therapy with a combination of methotrexate, sulfasalazine, hydroxychloroquine and prednisolone were in remission (Möttönen *et al.*, 1999).

DAS28 remission levels from 15% to 53% (St Clair *et al.*, 2004; Breedveld *et al.*, 2006; van der Heijde *et al.*, 2006; van Riel *et al.*, 2006; Mancarella *et al.*, 2007) were found in several clinical trials using biological agents, and were highest in patients treated with a combination of methotrexate and a biological agent (infliximab, etanercept or adalimumab). In the PREMIER study (Breedveld *et al.*, 2006), the remission rate at two years was 25% when adalimumab was used alone and 49% when it was used in combination with methotrexate. In the TEMPO trial (van der Heijde *et al.*, 2006) remission rates were 29.6% (etanercept as a single agent) and 53.7% (etanercept in combination with methotrexate). The remission rate was 31% at one year in the

study of St Clair et al.(St Clair *et al.*, 2004) in RA patients who were treated with a combination of methotrexate and infliximab (dose 6 mg/kg). In the abatacept study, patients with inadequate response to anti-TNF therapy were treated with abatecept for two years. Remission was assessed according to (DAS28-CRP< 2.6) with remission rates at six months and two years of 11% and 20%, respectively (Genovese *et al.*, 2008).

Mierau et al. (Mierau et al., 2007) studied sustained remission in RA patients. Sustainability of remission was defined as remission at two consecutive visits. Four different definitions were used: modified ACR remission (four of the five items had to be met, fatigue excluded), DAS28 remission, and SDAI and CDAI remission. The proportion of patients in remission at any one of the two visits was highest for DAS28 (43%), followed by modified ACR remission (39%) and SDAI and CDAI remission (34% each). Sustained remission was observed in much lower proportions of patients (between 17 and 20 depending on the instrument.). Van der Heijde et al. (van der Heijde et al., 2005) studied sustainability of DAS and DAS28 remissions and ACR70 response in the TEMPO trial, which compared the efficacy of combined MTX and etanercept therapy to the efficacy of these drugs as monotherapies in patients with advanced RA. Remission was assessed at four-week intervals or less frequently over one year. Patients treated with combination therapy scored better than those treated with either of the monotherapies with respect to the number of remission periods and sustainability of remissions.

5. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The purposes of the present study were to examine the methods used to assess disease activity and remission in RA, and to develop a new continuous index for the measurement of disease activity in RA. More precisely, the study set out to answer the following questions:

- What is the frequency of remission at five years after diagnosis when three sets of criteria are used in patients with RA in an inception cohort?
- 2) Is remission more often sustained in RA patients treated with a combination of traditional DMARDs and prednisolone compared to patients treated with a single DMARD with or without prednisolone? Does sustained remission protect against radiographic progression?
- 3) Is DAS28 an appropriate tool to assess remission in patients with RA?
- 4) What is the influence of components of DAS28 (tender joint count, swollen joint count, patient's general health and erythrocyte sedimentation rate) on the total DAS28 score? Does overlapping occur in the four individual components in RA patients with low, moderate or high disease activity?

The final study aim was:

5) To develop a new disease activity index for RA based on the American College of Rheumatology Core set of disease activity measures.

6. PATIENTS AND METHODS

6.1. Selection of patients and study design

Two different patient populations were chosen for this study: patients from a clinical cohort and patients from an RCT comparing two different treatment strategies.

6.1.1. The clinical cohort patients

Jyväskylä Central Hospital is the only rheumatology center in the Central Finland District; it served a population of 270,000/ year in 2007 (250 000/ year in 1997). All new RA patients in this area are referred to the hospital for diagnosis and initiation of treatments. All new inflammatory arthritis patients older than 16 years who did not meet criteria or show clinical signs of other specific arthritides (crystal deposit disease and spondylarthropathies) were included in the RA 1997 inception cohort. A total of 127 patients were included in the study. These patients received rheumatology care at Jyväskylä Central Hospital for two years after the diagnosis by a multidisciplinary team, and were subsequently invited to participate in a five-year study. Later, 110 patients whose diagnosis was made in 1998 were also included in the study cohort. At this stage a subgroup of patients (161 of 237 patients with clinical diagnosis of early RA) who cumulatively fulfilled the ARA criteria for RA was analyzed. Disease-modifying anti rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) were started at the time of the diagnosis. The target of therapy was clinical remission.

Measures at baseline and at two and five years included: 68 tender and 66 swollen joint counts (Felson *et al.*, 1993); laboratory tests including ESR, CRP, and RF; self-report pain and global health on 100 mm VAS, functional capacity according to the HAQ, morning stiffness in minutes on self-report; and radiographs of the hands and feet. Wrists, I-V metacarpophalangeal (MCP) joints, I-V metatarsophalangeal (MTP) joints and interphalangeal (IP) joints of the big toes were assessed according to the Larsen score (Larsen *et al.*, 1977; Kaarela & Kautiainen, 1997). Medications were recorded at each visit. The date of initiation and discontinuation of each DMARD was recorded.

6.1.2. The Finnish Rheumatoid Arthritis Combination Therapy (FIN-RACo) patients

In the FIN-RACo study (Möttönen *et al.*, 1999) 195 patients with recent onset RA were randomized to receive either DMARD combination therapy (COMBI) or DMARD monotherapy (SINGLE). Patients with previous DMARD therapy or those who had taken glucocorticoid therapy within two weeks prior to enrollment were excluded. The inclusion criteria were: age between 18 and 65 years, duration of symptoms less than two years, active disease with \geq three swollen joints, and at least three of the following: ESR \geq 28 mm/h or CRP >19mg/L, morning stiffness \geq 29 min, > five swollen joints, and >10 tender joints. All patients had to fulfill the ARA criteria for rheumatoid arthritis (Arnett *et al.*, 1988; Möttönen *et al.*, 1999).

The goal of treatment was remission in both groups. In the COMBI group, the initial DMARDs were sulfasalazine (SSZ) 500 mg twice daily, methotrexate (MTX) 7.5 mg/ week, and hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) 300mg daily. Prednisolone 5 mg daily was instituted simultaneously with the DMARDs. Drug doses were adjusted if a patient did not improve by 50% or more in two of the three criteria: number of swollen joints, number of tender joints, and ESR or CRP. The highest doses allowed were SSZ 2 g/day, MTX 15 mg/week, HCQ 300 mg/day, and prednisolone 10 mg/day. SSZ or HCQ could be replaced by auranofin (3-6 mg/day) and MTX by azathioprine (2 mg/kg/day) if the former drugs were discontinued either for inefficacy or adverse effects.

In the SINGLE arm the treatment was performed according to the "sawtooth" strategy (Fries, 1990; Sokka & Hannonen, 1999) with remission as the target. The first DMARD was SSZ 2g/day and the dose could be increased up to 3g/day. Simultaneous oral prednisolone treatment was not mandatory, but it was allowed up to 10 mg/ day at the discretion of the treating rheumatologist. SSZ could be replaced by MTX (or other single DMARD) in the case of an adverse event or lack of efficacy.

Intraarticular glucocorticoid injections were allowed according to the judgment of the attending physician in all patients (Möttönen *et al.*, 1999).

Patients were evaluated at baseline, and at six, 12 and 24 months. Clinical assessments included tender joint count (68 joints) and swollen joint count (66 joints), duration of morning stiffness in minutes, physician's and

patient's overall assessments and pain on VAS (0-100 mm), physical function on patient self report (HAQ), ESR and CRP.

Radiographs of hands and feet were taken at baseline, and at six and 24 months. Radiographs of 163 patients were available at baseline. Radiographs were assessed blinded to the clinical data, and were scored according to the Larsen method (0-200) (Larsen *et al.*, 1977), including I-V MCP and I-V PIP joints of both hands, II-V MTP joints, IP joints of big toes, and wrists (multiplied by five), with a total score of 200.

6.1.3. Definitions of remission

We used four separate sets of criteria to define remission, as shown in Table 9. The ACR remission criteria require: 1) no joint or tendon sheet swelling, 2) no joint tenderness, 3) normal ESR, 4) morning stiffness \leq 15 minutes, and 5) no joint pain by history (we used VAS \leq 10 mm on a scale of 1-100 mm)(Sokka & Pincus, 2003b). The requirement of fatigue was excluded, but the five criteria above had to be fulfilled. Clinical remission was defined as: 1) no tender and 2) no swollen joints, and 3) normal ESR. Radiographic remission was defined as: 1) no worsening of erosions, and 2) no new erosions from baseline to five years. *DAS28 remission* was defined as DAS28< 2.6.

6.1.4. Definition of sustained remission

Sustained remission indicates remission at six, 12, and 24 months. Sustainability of remission was expressed as the percentage of patients in sustained remission at each visit.

Table 9. Remission criteria used in this study

Remission criteria

Modified **ACR remission criteria** (criteria 1 to 5 must be fulfilled)

- 1. No joint swelling or soft tissue swelling of tendon sheets
- 2. No joint tenderness or pain on motion
- 3. Normal ESR of < 30 in women and < 20 in men
- 4. Morning stiffness of 15 minutes or less
- 5. Absence of joint pain by history interpreted as pain VAS score ≤10 on a scale of
- 1-100
- (6. Absence of fatigue)

DAS28 remission

DAS28 < 2.6

Clinical remission

- 1. No joint swelling
- 2. No joint tenderness or pain on motion
- 3. Normal ESR

Radiographic remission

- 1. No worsening of erosions
- 2. No new erosions from baseline to five years

6.1.5. Definitions of disease activity indices and overlapping (distribution of values of individual variables between defined disease activity states)6.1.5.1. DAS28

DAS28 was calculated with the formula $0.56 \times SQRT$ (tender joints 28) + 0.28 × SQRT (swollen joints 28) + 0.70 × ln (ESR) + 0.014 × GH (van Gestel *et al.*, 1996).

Disease activity was graded as follows: low disease activity DAS28 \leq 3.2, moderate disease activity DAS28 > 3.2 and \leq 5.1, and high disease activity DAS28 > 5.1(van Gestel *et al.*, 1999).

6.1.5.2 Effects of the individual components of DAS28 on the total DAS28 score ('theoretical model')

Using a 'theoretical model' the effects of the individual components of DAS28 (TJC, SJC, ESR, and GH) were calculated according to the DAS28 formula. In the model it was presumed that the other three components remained at 0 (ESR 1) while the value of the component studied varied from 0 (ESR 1) to its clinically relevant maximum. The effect of TJC was calculated as follows: $0.56 \times SQRT$ (range from 0 to 28) + $0.28 \times SQRT$ 0 + $0.70 \times ln$ 1 + 0.014×0 ; the effect was calculated similarly for the other three components.

6.1.5.3. Definition of overlapping

Overlapping was calculated as follows. The higher limit for overlapping was defined as the highest SJC (on a 66 joint count) in the low

disease activity group, and the lower limit as the lowest SJC in the high disease activity group; the percentage of patients who fell between these limits represents overlapping in SJC. Overlapping was calculated similarly for TJC (on a 68 joint count), ESR and GH.

6.1.6. The Mean Overall Index for RA (MOI-RA)

The MOI-RA is the mean of standardized values of tender and swollen joint counts (28, 42 or 66/68 joint counts), patient's (GH) and physician's (GL) assessments of global health, and patient's assessment of pain on VAS (0-100 mm], the HAQ (0-3), and ESR (1-100). In ESR, all values above 100 are replaced by 100. Standardization means that the effect of an individual component on the total score is equal: the HAQ value (range 0-3) is divided by its maximum, which is 3, and multiplied by 100. Similar calculations are performed with the other components: they are standardized to range from 0 to 100. The mean of the standardized values is calculated. The range of MOI-RA is 0-100; higher values indicate poorer outcomes. If values of 1-3 components of MOI-RA are missing, standardized values are calculated from the available component values and the mean of the standardized values is recorded.

7. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The results were presented as mean and median, standard deviation (SD) or interquartile range (IQR), percentages and 95% confidence intervals (CI).

7.1. Statistical analysis (Study I)

The agreement of the remission criteria was tested using the Jaccard test, which calculates the proportion of positive observations in both variables (the ACR and clinical remission criteria) over positive observations in either variable (the ACR or clinical remission criteria). Cochran's Q was used to test the equality of the remission proportions in the three dichotomous remission criteria variables.

7.2. Statistical analysis (Study II)

The sustainability of treatment response was analyzed by applying generalized estimating equation (GEE) models with an exchangeable correlation structure. Odds ratios with confidence intervals were based on the GEE models with baseline disease activity on DAS28 as a covariate.

The median change in the Larsen score from baseline to two years is presented with Hodges-Lehmann estimates (Hollander & Wolfe, 1999). Permutation type analysis of covariance with baseline radiographic scores as covariates was applied to compare radiographic progression between the groups concerning remission.

7.3. Statistical analysis (Study III)

Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves were constructed to determine the cutoff point of DAS28 with the highest possible sensitivity and specificity corresponding to the ACR remission criteria and clinical remission criteria. The 95% confidence intervals for the areas under ROC were obtained by bias corrected and accelerated bootstrapping.

Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, likelihood ratio, and their 95% CI values were calculated for each of the remission criteria.

7.4. Descriptive statistics (Study V)

Distributions of MOI-RA and DAS28 were represented as skewness and kurtosis. The coefficient of variation was calculated for both indices using the formula: (SD/mean value of index at baseline) x 100. Confidence intervals (95% CI) were obtained from bias corrected bootstrapping (5000 replications). Assumptions of normality in the baseline index values were evaluated by the Kolmokorov-Smirnov test with Monte Carlo p-values. The internal consistency between components of MOI-RA was estimated by calculating Cronbach's alpha, and the reproducibility of MOI-RA by calculating the intra class correlation coefficient (ICC).

7.5. Criterion validity (Study V)

MOI-RA was compared both with ACR response criteria and DAS28. The mean change in MOI-RA from baseline to six months was calculated in patients 1) who did not meet ACR20 response criteria, and 2) in patients who met ACR20 but not ACR50 response, 3) ACR50 but not remission, and 3) in patients who met ACR remission criteria. Possible relationships between MOI-RA and different ACR response classes were studied using analyses of covariance (ANCOVA). Agreement between MOI-RA and DAS28 was tested using Pearson's correlation coefficient.

7.6. Responsiveness (Study V)

Responsiveness was calculated as the standardized response mean (SRM) and effect size (ES). SRM was defined as the mean change of the score from baseline divided by the standard deviation (SD) of this change (Liang *et al.*, 1985). ES was defined as the mean change from baseline divided by the SD of the baseline score (Kazis *et al.*, 1989). Confidence intervals of ES and SRM values were obtained by bias corrected bootstrapping (5000 replications).

7.7. Sensitivity to change (Study V)

The sensitivity to change of the MOI-RA index was analyzed in the FIN-RACo patient population from baseline to six months, and compared to DAS28. To be able to include all information on the patient population at all time

points (baseline, six and 12 months) repeated measures analyses were performed using generalized linear mixed models.

8. RESULTS

8.1. The clinical cohort and the FIN-RACo trial patients

The clinical cohort included 127 early RA patients diagnosed at Jyväskylä Central Hospital in 1997; 111 of these patients attended the five-year control visit (Study I). A further 110 patients diagnosed in 1998 were also included in the clinical cohort. A total of 196 patients diagnosed in 1997-1998 (237 patients at baseline) attended the five-year visit and 161 of those diagnosed in 1997-1998 cumulatively fulfilled the ACR criteria for RA and were included in the analysis (Study III). Patients were actively treated with DMARDs and the goal of treatment was remission. DMARD therapy was started from the diagnosis.

Patients from a RCT were also analyzed: the original FIN-RACo study included 195 patients: 97 were in the COMBI arm and 98 in the SINGLE arm. The mean age of all patients was 47 years, 62% were female, 70% were rheumatoid factor positive, and 48% of the patients had erosions in hand and/or feet radiographs at baseline. The present analyses include 169 patients with complete data (79 COMBI, 90 SINGLE) who were assessed for remission and good treatment response at six, 12 and 24 months (Table 10)(Study II, IV and V).
Table 10. Comparison of demographic variables and disease characteristics of all patients at baseline in the FIN-RACo trial and patients included in this analysis

	All 195 patients	169 patients analyzed for sustained remission		
		Total 169 patients	COMBI 79 patients	SINGLE 90 patients
Mean age, years (SD)	47 (10)	47 (10)	46 (9)	48 (10)
Female gender (%)	121 (62%)	106 (63%)	47 (60%)	59 (66%)
Patients with positive rheumatoid factor (%)	136 (70%)	120 (71%)	58 (73%)	62 (69%)
Patients with erosions (%)	94 (48%)	83 (49%)	36 (46%)	47 (52%)
Duration of symptoms before diagnosis, months, median (IOR)	6 (4, 10)	6 (4, 10)	6 (4, 9)	7 (4, 11)
Tender joints, median (IQR)	17 (13, 25)	17 (13, 24)	16 (13, 23)	17 (13, 24)
Swollen joints, median (IQR)	13 (9, 16)	13 (9, 16)	13 (9, 16)	13 (9, 16)
Patient global assessment, median (IQR)	48 (31, 64)	47 (29, 61)	47 (28, 61)	47 (31, 61)
Physician global	44 (31, 59)	42 (31, 59)	38 (31, 52)	46 (30, 63)
DAS28, mean (SD)	5.6 (1.0)	5.6 (1.0)	5.4 (0.9)	5.7 (1.1)

8.2. Remission in RA

In the clinical cohort 19 [17 %(95% Cl 11% to 25%)] of the 111 examined patients diagnosed in 1997 as having RA met the ACR remission criteria, 41 patients [37% (95% Cl 28% to 47%)] met the clinical remission criteria (no tender, no swollen joints and normal ESR), and 61 patients [55% (95% Cl 49% to 68%)] met the radiographic remission criteria (no worsening of erosions and no new erosions from baseline to five years). Only 13 [12% (95% Cl 6% to 19%)] patients met all three sets of remission criteria and 74 [67% (95% Cl 57% to 75%)] met at least one of the criteria (Figure 4)(Study I).

The similarity between the criteria was 0.46 (95% CI 0.31 to 0.29) for the ACR versus clinical remission, 0.19 (95% CI 0.10 to 0.29) for the ACR versus radiographic remission, and 0.38 (95% CI 0.27 to 0.49) for clinical versus radiographic remission criteria. The rate of remission was statistically different between the three sets of remission criteria according to Cochran's Q (p < 0.001)(Study I).



Figure 4. Remission in 111 patients with early RA five years after onset of disease

When the RA patients diagnosed in 1997 and 1998 were included, at five years 19 (12% [95% CI 7% to 18%]) of the 161 examined RA patients met the ACR remission criteria, including 106 (66%) with no swollen joints, 69 (43%) with no tender joints, 119 (74%) with normal ESR, 65 (40%) with morning stiffness \leq 15 minutes, and 32 (20%) patients with no pain (Table 11). A total of 55 patients [34% CI 27% to 42%] met the simple set of clinical remission criteria at five years (Study III).

The positive predictive value for the ACR remission criteria was lowest for normal ESR (16%), and highest for no history of joint pain (56%). Similarly, the likelihood ratio was lowest for normal ESR (1.40) and highest for no joint pain (10.0). According to the less rigorous ACR remission criteria (four of the five ACR remission criteria had to be fulfilled and fatigue was excluded),

40 [25% (95%CI 19% to 33%)] of the patients were in remission at five years (Table 11)(Study III).

Table 11. Patients fulfilling each ARA remission criterion and the positive predictive value and likelihood ratio of each criterion

	PPV%	52	80	69	45	49
	(95% CI)	(42 to 62)	(68 to 88)	(50 to 84)	(35 to 54)	(49 to 62)
remission	LR+	2.08	7.57	4.24	1.56	1.88
	(95% CI)	(1.72 to 2.55)	(4.72 to 12.34)	(2.20 to 8.24)	(1.36 to 1.85)	(1.32 to 2.68)
Clinica	Specificity	52	87	90	37	67
	(95% CI)	(42 to 62)	(79 to 93)	(83 to 95)	(28 to 47)	(57 to 76)
	Sensitivity (95% CI)	100	100	41 (28 to 55)	100	62 (47 to 74)
	PPV ^t %	18	28	56	16	28
	(95% Cl)	(11 to 27)	(17 to 40)	(38 to 74)	(10 to 24)	(17 to 40)
remission	LR+*	1.63	2.84	10.00	1.40	2.87
	(95% CI)	(1.27 to 1.85)	(2.13 to 3.52)	(5.97 to 16.15)	(1.10 to 1.55)	(2.13 to 3.59)
ACR	Specificity	39	65	90	29	65
	(95% CI)	(31 to 47)	(56 to 73)	(84 to 94)	(21 to 37)	(57 to 73)
	Sensitivity	100	100	100	100	100
Criteria	(%)	106	69	32	119	65
present	и	(66)	(43)	(20)	(74)	(40)
Criteria		No swollen joints	No tender joints	No pain ^{\$}	Normal ESR	Morning stiffness ^u

* Likelihood ratio positive (ratio of the sensitivity of a test to the false positive error rate of the test) ^t Positive predictive value (proportion of the subjects with positive test results who were in remission) ^ξ Pain VAS≤ 10 mm^ψ Duration of morning stiffness≤ 15 minutes

In the clinical cohort, only 23 patients [21 %(95% Cl 14% to 29%)] were in clinical remission both at two and five years (Study I). In the FIN-RACo trial, 20 (25%) of the COMBI patients were in ACR remission at six months, of whom 13 and 11 patients were also in remission at 12 and 24 months, respectively. The corresponding figures were 11 (12%), three and three for the SINGLE patients. Thus, remission was sustained in 11 [14% (95% Cl 7% to 23%)] COMBI and three [3% (95% Cl 1% to 9%)] SINGLE patients (p=0.013) (Figure 4). The odds ratio for COMBI vs. SINGLE patients to be in sustained ACR remission was 4.61 (95% Cl 1.17 to 16.99), adjusted for baseline DAS28 values (Study II).

The sustainability of DAS28 remission was analyzed in the FIN-RAco trial patients: a total of 40 [51% (95% CI 39% to 62%)] COMBI and 14 [16% (95%: CI10% to 24%)] SINGLE patients (p<0.001) met sustained DAS28 remission (Figure 5)(Study II).



Figure 5. Percentage of patients in sustained ACR remission and DAS28 remission in COMBI and SINGLE therapy groups in the FIN-RACo trial

Sustainability of remission and good treatment response and their

influence on radiographic progression is presented in Table 12.

Table 12. Radiographic progression and sustainability of remission and good treatment response in the 163 patients of the FIN-the RACo trial with radiographs over two years

Improvement criteria	Number of patient	Baseline Larsen median (IQR)	Change in Larsen score from 0 to 24 months median (95%Cl) [‡]	P- value [*]
ACR remission				0.017
No remission at six months	132	2 (0, 6)	4 (2 to 8)	
Remission at six months, no sustained remission	17	2 (0, 8)	4 (0 to 10)	
Sustained remission [†]	14	0 (0, 3)	0 (0 to 2)	
DAS28 remission				<0.001
No remission at six months	82	0 (0, 4)	6 (2 to 10)	
Remission at six months, no sustained remission	30	2 (0, 10)	4 (2 to 16)	
Sustained remission [†]	51	2 (0, 6)	1 (0 to 2)	
DAS28 good treatment				<0.001
No good treatment response at six months	62	0 (0, 4)	6 (2 to 10)	
Good treatment response at six months; no sustained	28	4 (0, 9)	10 (4 to 16)	
good response Sustained good treatment response [•]	73	0 (0, 5)	1 (0 to 6)	

[†] Remission at six, 12 and 24 months. [‡] Hodges-Lehman estimates of median difference. ^{*} Permutation-type analysis of covariance. Baseline values are used as covariates. [•] Good treatment response at six, 12 and 24 months.

The ROC curves of DAS28 were used to define the presence or absence of remission in the clinical cohort using the modified ACR criteria and the clinical remission criteria (Figure 6). The area under ROC was 0.87 (95% CI 0.82 to 0.93) for the ACR remission criteria, 0.90 (95% CI 0.84 to 0.94) for the clinical remission criteria and 0.89 (95% CI 0.83 to 0.94) for the less rigorous ACR remission criteria (Study III).

The cutoff value for DAS28 was 2.32 (sensitivity 100%, specificity 73%) for the modified ACR remission criteria, 2.60 (sensitivity 93%, specificity 76%) for the less rigorous set of the ACR remission criteria, and 2.68 (sensitivity 91%, specificity 79%) for the clinical remission criteria (Study III).

Characteristics	Remission criteria			
	ACR• (95% CI)	ACR [#] (95% CI)	Clinical (95% CI)	
Cut-off point	2.32	2.60	2.68	
Area under ROC [†]	0.87 (0.82 to 0.93)	0.89 (0.83 to 0.94)	0.90 (0.84 to 0.94)	
Sensitivity, %	100 (82 to 100)	93 (80 to 98)	91 (80 to 97)	
Specificity,%	73 (64 to 80)	76 (67 to 83)	79 (70 to 87)	
PPV [‡] , %	33 (21 to 46)	56 (43 to 68)	69 (57 to 80)	
LR+ [*]	3.64 (2.66 to 4.71)	3.80 (2.76 to 5.32)	4.38 (3.05 to 6.48)	

Table 13. The estimated cutoff points of DAS28 corresponding to the ACR and the clinical remission criteria

•ACR remission criteria, all five criteria must be fulfilled (fatigue excluded)

 $^{\#}\!ACR$ remission criteria, four of the five criteria must be fulfilled (fatigue excluded)

[†] Area under the ROC curves with 95% confidence interval obtained by bias corrected and accelerated bootstrapping (5000 replications).

⁺ Positive predictive value (proportion of the subjects with positive test results who were in remission).

^{*} Likelihood Ratio Positive (ratio of the sensitivity of a test to its false-positive error rate).



Figure 6. ROC curves of DAS28 when used to define the presence or absence of the ACR remission criteria and the clinical remission criteria

Of the 57 patients who had DAS28<2.32, five (9%) had tender joints, four (7%) had swollen joints, and two (4%) had both tender and swollen joints on the 28 joint count. On the 66 joint count the corresponding figures were 11 (19%), six (11%) and four (7%) (Table 15). If we had used the previously proposed cutoff point of 2.6 as the limit of DAS28 remission in our cohort, a higher proportion of our patients [66 (41%) patients] would have been included in the remission group. Of these 66 patients, 15 (23%) had tender and six (9%) swollen joints, and four (6%) had both tender and swollen joints (66 joint count) (Table 15)(Study III).

	¹⁾ DAS28 <2.32	²⁾ DAS28 <2.6	³⁾ DAS28 <2.68
Patients n	57	66	72
Patients with tender joints n (%)			
28 joint count	5 (9%)	6 (9%)	7 (8%)
66 joint count	11 (19%)	15 (23%)	17 (24%)
Patients with swollen joints n (%)			
28 joint count	4 (7%)	5 (8%)	5 (7%)
66 joint count	6 (11%)	6 (9%)	6 (8%)
Patients with tender and swollen			
joints n (%)			
28 joint count	2 (4%)	2 (4%)	2 (3%)
66 joint count	4 (7%)	4 (6%)	4 (6%)
Patients with elevated ESR n (%)	2 (4%)	3 (5%)	4 (6%)
Patients with morning stiffness n (%)	23 (40%)	25 (38%)	27 (38%)
Patients with joint pain n (%)	33 (58%)	38 (58%)	44 (61%)

Table 15. Cutoff values of DAS28 and number of patients not fulfilling each individual ACR remission criterion.

- 1) The cutoff point corresponding to the ACR remission criteria in this study (all the five ACR remission must be fulfilled and fatigue excluded)
- The generally accepted cutoff point of DAS28 in remission and the cutoff point of ACR remission in this study when modified ACR criteria are used (four of the five ACR remission criteria must be fulfilled and fatigue excluded)
- 3) The cutoff point corresponding to the clinical remission criteria defined as no tender or swollen joints and normal ESR

8.3. DAS28 and MOI-RA in early RA

In the FIN-RACo trial, the mean value of the DAS28 was 2.78 at six months. The relative contribution of the mean values of the component variables to the total DAS28 score according to the DAS28 formula was as follows: 1) the mean of $(0.56 \times \sqrt{TJC})$ was 0.71 while the median TJC was 2 (range 0-24), 2) the mean of $(0.28 \times \sqrt{SJC})$ was 0.23 while the median SJC was 0 (range 0-20), 3) the mean of $[0.70 \times \ln(ESR)]$ was 1.56 while the median ESR was 10 (range 1-65), and 4) the mean of $(0.014 \times GH)$ was 0.28 while the median GH was 15 (range 0-77). Thus the sum of 1 to 4 (0.71+0.23+1.56+0.28) was 2.78 (total DAS28 score). Therefore, in this patient population ESR had the greatest effect on the DAS28 score with 56% of the total DAS28 score, followed by TJC (26%), GH (10%), and SJC (8%)(Study IV).

In the 'theoretical model', TJC (28 joint count) shows the greatest effect on the total DAS28 score: when TJC rises from zero to 28, DAS28 increases from zero to 2.94, provided that the other components remain at zero (ESR 1). Accordingly, ESR has the second largest effect on DAS28: when ESR rises from zero to 20, DAS28 goes from zero to 2.1. Further, when ESR rises to 100 DAS28 increases to 3.22. ESR exceeds the effects of all the other components when its value is above 70. SJC has the third most powerful effect on DAS28 followed by GH, the similarly calculated values of DAS28 being 1.5 and 1.42, respectively (Figure 7)(Study IV).



Figure 7. Effect of each component of DAS28 in the 'theoretical model': tender joint count, swollen joint count, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), and patient's general health on DAS28 presuming that the remaining three components are at zero (ESR 1).

Of the 169 FIN-RACo patients, 107 (63%) had DAS28 \leq 3.2 (low disease activity), 51 (30%) had DAS28 >3.2 and \leq 5.1 (moderate disease activity), and 11 (7%) had DAS28 >5.1 (high disease activity) at six months. In the high disease activity group the lowest SJC on a 66 joint count was 1 while the highest SJC in the low disease activity group was 11. In the low disease activity group 42 patients and in the moderate and high disease activity groups 43 and seven patients, respectively, had a SJC from 1 to 11. In the whole patient population, 92 of the 169 patients had a SJC between those limits, so the overlapping rate was 92/169 (54%). The similarly calculated overlapping rates regarding GH, TJC (68 joint count) and ESR were 49%, 45% and 31%, respectively (Figure 8 and Figure 9)(Study IV).



Figure 8. Overlapping in the number of swollen and tender joints on a 66/68 joint count in RA patients with low (DAS28≤ 3.2), moderate (DAS28> 3.2 and DAS28≤ 5.1) and high disease activity (DAS28> 5.1) according to DAS28. Each circle represents one patient of the FIN-RACo trial.



Figure 9. Overlapping in the erythrocyte sedimentation rate and patient's general health in RA patients with low (DAS28 \leq 3.2), moderate (DAS28> 3.2 and \leq 5.1) and high disease activity (DAS28> 5.1) according to DAS28. Each circle represents one patient of the FIN-RACo trial.

MOI-RA was examined in the FIN-RACo study. The mean MOI-RA28 decreased from 38.5 to 13.3 from baseline to six months, compared to a decrease of DAS28 from 5.55 to 2.77. Descriptive statistics and the internal consistency of MOI-RA are presented in Table 17. Coefficients of variation were higher in MOI-RA than DAS28. Assumptions of normal distribution were satisfied: DAS28 (p= 0.81), MOI-RA28 (p=0.71), MOI-RA42 (p= 0.64) and MOI-RA66/68 (p=0.66). The reproducibility between MOI-RA indices with different joint counts was 0.97 (95%CI 0.88 to 0.99)(Study V). Table 17. Distributions and internal consistency of MOI-RA and DAS28 at baseline

	DAS28	MOI-RA28	MOI-RA42	MOI-RA66/68
Mean (SD)	5.55 (0.98)	38.5 (13.6)	39.2 (13.3)	35.6 (12.8)
Median (IQR)	5.53 (4.90, 6.17)	38.8 (28.7, 46.8)	38.6 (28.3, 47.1)	35.5 26.5, 42.7)
Range	3.03-8.03	13.2-73.3	16.1-72.2	13.8-71.6
Coefficient of variation [*] , % (95%Cl) ^t	18 (16 to 20)	35 (32 to 39)	34 (31 to 37)	36 (32 to 39)
Skewness (95% CI)	0.12 (-0.17 to 0.37)	0.40 (0.18 to 0.64)	0.41 (0.21 to 0.67)	0.45 (0.23 to 0.69)
Kurtosis (95% CI)	2.9 (2.5-3.4)	2.8 (2.4 to 3.4)	2.7 (2.3 to 3.2)	2.8 (2.4 to 3.4)
Internal consistency ^t (95% CI)	0.49 (0.37 to 0.59)	0.78 (0.72 to 0.82)	0.80 (0.75 to 0.84)	0.80 (0.75 to 0.84)

* (SD of the index at baseline/ mean value of the index at baseline) × 100.⁴ Confidence interval obtained from bias corrected bootstrapping (5000 replications).⁴ Internal consistency between components of MOI-RA was estimated by calculating Cronbach's alpha.

Figure 10 illustrates the mean baseline adjusted change in MOI-RA from baseline to six months in patients who did not meet the ACR20, who met ACR20 but not ACR50, who met ACR50 but not remission, and who met ACR remission criteria. When compared to the ACR response categories (20/50), changes in MOI-RA versions (using 28/42/66 joints) were similar (Figure 10). The correlation between MOI-RA and DAS28 was between 0.84 and 0.90 (Table 18)(Study V).



Figure 10. Changes in MOI-RA (28, 42 and 66/68 joint counts) in patients who did not meet the ACR 20 response, who met the ACR20 but not ACR50, who met ACR50 but not remission, and in patients who met remission criteria.

Table 18. Correlation $^{\rm x}$ between MOI-RA (with joint counts 28, 42 and 66/68) and DAS28

	DAS28 (95%Cl)	MOI-RA 28	MOI-RA
		(95%CI)	44(95%Cl)
MOI-RA 28	0.90 (0.86 to 0.92)		
MOI-RA 42	0.86 (0.82 to 0.89)	0.99 (0.97 to 1.00)	
MOI-RA 66/68	0.84 (0.79 to 0.87)	0.98 (0.97 to 0.99)	0.99 (0.97 to 1.00)

* Correlation was calculated with Pearson's coefficient

The mean MOI-RA (SD) values at baseline with 28, 42 and 66/68 joint counts were 38.5 (13.6), 39.2 (13.3), and 35.6 (12.8), respectively, indicating a decrease in the MOI-RA values from baseline to six months of approximately 65%. The mean DAS28 (SD) at baseline was 5.55 (0.98), and a 50% decrease during the same time period was seen (Table 19). The sensitivity to change of MOI-RA and DAS28 is shown in Figure 11; both indices discriminate the two treatment arms significantly. The SRM and ES of both DAS28 and MOI-RA for all joint counts were excellent (Table 19)(Study V).

Table 19. Responsiveness of MOI-RA and DAS28

Index	Change from baseline	Change from	SRM [×]	ES [×]
	to six months mean	baseline to		
	(95%Cl)	six months %		
DAS28	-2.78 (-2.88 to 2.57)	50%	2.0 (1.8 to 2.3)	2.8 (2.5 to 3.2)
MOI-RA28	-25.2 (-27.3 to -23.1)	65%	1.8 (1.6 to 2.1)	1.9 (1.6 to 2.1)
MOI-RA42	-25.4 (-27.4 to -23.4)	65%	1.8 (1.7 to 2.1)	1.9 (1.7 to 2.1)
MOI-RA66/68	-23.1 (-25.0 to -21.2)	64%	1.8 (1.6 to 2.1)	1.8 (1.6 to 2.0)

SRM= standardized response mean, ES= effect size * Confidence interval obtained by bias corrected bootstrapping (5000 replications)



Figure 11. Decrease of DAS28 and MOI-RA in the monotherapy (SINGLE) and combination therapy (COMBI) arm of the FIN-RACo trial from baseline to 12 months

A simulation in which 15% of the component values of MOI-RA were randomly omitted (0-3 of the seven measures of one patient could be missing) was performed: the ICC was 0.98 (95%CI 0.97 to 0.99) between incomplete and complete data (Study V).

9. DISCUSSION

The contemporary approach to treatment of patient with RA involves aggressive therapy with DMARDs and biologic agents (Möttönen *et al.*, 2002; Grigor *et al.*, 2004; Goekoop-Ruiterman *et al.*, 2005; Sokka *et al.*, 2005). The goals of treatment are to prevent structural damage, functional impairment, work disability, and premature mortality. According to the current guidelines, treatment of RA should be targeted at remission (Emery & Salmon, 1995; Möttönen *et al.*, 1999). However, remission remains an ambitious aim, which may be achieved infrequently in standard clinical care (Wolfe & Hawley, 1985; Listing *et al.*, 2006; Mancarella *et al.*, 2007). In previous studies ACR remission rates in clinical RA cohorts range from 0% to 32% (Suarez-Almazor *et al.*, 1994; Möttönen *et al.*, 1996; Eberhardt & Fex, 1998; Young *et al.*, 2000; Lindqvist *et al.*, 2002; Khanna *et al.*, 2007) and in randomized clinical trials of traditional DMARDs from 7% to 37% (Wolfe & Hawley, 1985; Möttönen *et al.*, 2004).

In the present study, rates of remission were studied in a clinical cohort using three different definitions of remission: the strict ACR remission criteria (fatigue excluded, the other five criteria had to be fulfilled), practical clinical remission (no tender joints, no swollen joints, ESR≤ 10mm/h), and radiographic remission (no worsening of erosions, no new erosions from baseline to five years). Our five-year remission rate of 17% according to the ACR criteria lies within the wide range reported in the literature. As expected, the rate of clinical remission, which includes three ACR remission criteria but

not pain and morning stiffness (or fatigue), was considerably higher compared to the ACR remission rate. The high percentage (55%) of patients with no radiographic progression over five years was somewhat surprising, but similar to results from another cohort in our clinic (Sokka *et al.*, 2004a).

Wolfe et al. (Wolfe & Hawley, 1985) reported that the sensitivity and specificity of the ACR remission criteria were good. Alarcon et al. (Alarcon *et al.*, 1987) found the criteria to be highly specific but with low sensitivity in some patient groups. Nevertheless, fatigue is often excluded when the ACR remission criteria are used (Suarez-Almazor *et al.*, 1994; Möttönen *et al.*, 1999; Möttönen *et al.*, 2002). In some studies the criteria are considered to be met if all the other five items are fulfilled (Suarez-Almazor *et al.*, 1994; Möttönen *et al.*, 1999; Möttönen *et al.*, 2002), while in other studies only four of the remaining five items are required for remission (Eberhardt & Fex, 1998; Lindqvist *et al.*, 2002). Low remission rates are not a surprise since the strict ACR remission criteria are not fulfilled by the majority of people aged over 50 in the general population (Sokka *et al.*, 2007c).

All patients fulfilling our definition of clinical remission (no tender joints, no swollen joints, ESR≤ 10 mm/h) also met the MDA definition (Wells *et al.*, 2005). The proportions of patients fulfilling this definition in early RF positive RA patients treated with traditional DMARDs were as follows: 3%, 2% and 3% at six, 12 and 24 months (Khanna *et al.*, 2007). In another study, adalimumab was started in active RA patients, and this definition was fulfilled by 13% of patients at 12 weeks (Burmester *et al.*, 2007). The proportion of these patients

who met the criteria are markedly lower than in our study although differences in the patient populations do not allow direct comparisons between the studies.

One could anticipate that radiographic remission would be the most rigorous of all remission criteria, since information from previous decades shows that radiographic damage starts early and that progression is most rapid during the first years of the disease (Fuchs *et al.*, 1989b; Eberhardt *et al.*, 1990; van der Heijde *et al.*, 1995; Fex *et al.*, 1996; Kaarela & Kautiainen, 1997; Eberhardt & Fex, 1998; Plant *et al.*, 1998; Hulsmans *et al.*, 2000; Jäntti *et al.*, 2002; Lindqvist *et al.*, 2003; Sokka *et al.*, 2004b). In the study of Lindqvist *et al.* (Lindqvist *et al.*, 2003), almost all (96%) RA patients had erosions at 10 years. In the present study, 42% of the patients remained non-erosive throughout the five-year follow-up period. In two previous early RA cohorts from our clinic, 67% to 86% of patients had erosions within five years (Sokka *et al.*, 2004b).

Remission is our goal; however, we should not be satisfied with transient remission and sustained remission should remain the ultimate target. In the FIN-RACo, patients in sustained remission had less radiographic progression over two years compared to patients who were in remission at six months and lost it later. Less than 50% of our clinical cohort patients who were in clinical remission at two years were also in remission at five years. Molenaar et al. (Molenaar *et al.*, 2004) followed RA patients in remission for two years. Remission persisted in 52% of the patients after two years. The sustainability of DAS and DAS28 remissions was also studied in the TEMPO trial comparing the efficacy of the combination of MTX and etanercept to the efficacy of these drugs

as monotherapies in patients with advanced RA. Remission was assessed frequently over one year. Patients who were treated with the combination therapy managed better than patients who were treated with either of the monotherapies with respect to the number and durability of remission periods (van der Heijde *et al.*, 2005). Accordingly, our analysis of the FIN-RACo study shows that therapy with a combination of traditional DMARDs in patients with clinically active early RA leads to sustained remission more often than DMARD monotherapy. Furthermore, results from the RABBIT (German biologics register) show that biological drugs seem to be superior to conventional DMARDs concerning remissions. The overall success rates, however, remain low and relapses common. Sustained remission rates of 7.7% for DAS28 remission and 4.5% for ACR remission were found in patients receiving biologics during the follow up time of 12 months (Listing *et al.*, 2006).

There is a shift towards less stringent remission criteria, especially in RA RCTs. DAS28 (DAS28< 2.6) remission with higher remission rates has replaced the more strict ACR remission criteria in RCTs investigating the efficacy of biologic agents (Mäkinen *et al.*, 2006). In the present study DAS28<2.32 corresponded to the fulfillment of the modified ACR remission criteria and DAS28<2.68 corresponded to the clinical remission criteria (no tender or swollen joints and normal ESR). We also calculated the cutoff point of DAS28 using a less rigorous set of ACR remission criteria than in previous studies (Balsa *et al.*, 2004; Fransen *et al.*, 2004) and the cutoff point was 2.6 in agreement with the study of Fransen et al. (Fransen *et al.*, 2004). Even a higher

cutoff point of DAS28 2.81 for this set of ACR remission criteria was reported by Balsa et al.(Balsa *et al.*, 2004). DAS28-CRP remission was not examined in this study, and even though DAS28-CRP and DAS28-ESR are well correlated, the threshold values for remission should be reconsidered (Inoue *et al.*, 2007; Matsui *et al.*, 2007a). A DAS28-CRP remission cut-off point of 2.6 has been used in one abatacept study(Genovese *et al.*, 2008).

The preliminary RA remission criteria by Pinals et al.(Pinals *et al.*, 1981) require that five of the six criteria have to be fulfilled. The criteria explicitly accept that patients with either tender or swollen joints can be considered to be in remission, although not if both tender and swollen joints are present. In our study 6% of the patients who were in DAS28 remission (DAS28<2.6) had both tender and swollen joint of 2.4 allowed the presence of up to 12 swollen joints (Aletaha *et al.*, 2005b).

It appears that remission and sustained remission can be best achieved by tight disease control, which is facilitated by using disease activity indices. In the TICORA (Tight Control for Rheumatoid Arthritis) (Grigor *et al.*, 2004) study the target of intensive therapy was to achieve DAS<2.4. The intensive strategy was markedly more beneficial than 'routine care' with regard to disease activity, radiographic progression, physical function, and quality of life. At 18 months, 65% of patients in the intensive care group were in DAS remission vs. 16% in the routine care group. The BeSt study (Goekoop-Ruiterman *et al.*, 2005) compared four treatment strategies in early RA: sequential monotherapy, step up combination therapy, and initial combination

therapy with either high dose prednisone or infliximab. Treatment was required to be intensified if DAS exceeded 2.4. After one year, patients in the initial combination therapy had better functional improvement and less radiographic joint damage (Goekoop-Ruiterman *et al.*, 2005) compared to the other groups. In the CAMERA study, (Computer Assisted Management in Early Rheumatoid Arthritis) (Verstappen *et al.*, 2007) intensive and conventional monitoring strategies were compared in early RA patients. In the tight control group treatment decisions were based on a computer decision program. Remission was defined as no swollen joints and two out of three of the following variables: number of tender joints \leq 3, ESR \leq 20 mm/h, and VAS general wellbeing \leq 20 mm. After two years, 50% of the patients in the intensive group versus 37% in the conventional group had been in remission for at least six months during the study. Dougados et al. (Dougados *et al.*, 2007) suggest that low disease activity, intensive monitoring, and rapid adjustments in treatment offer the best benefit for RA patients.

Composite scores of disease activity such as DAS28 are of great value in RA clinical trials for evaluating the treatment response. However, measures with a good discriminatory power in groups of patients may not be optimal in individual patients. In our study a substantial proportion of the patients with low, moderate and high disease activity defined by DAS28 had overlapping values with the other disease activity groups with respect to all four disease activity components (TJC, SJC, GH, and ESR).

The Ritchie index has a major impact on the original DAS score, followed by SJC, ESR and GH (van der Heijde *et al.*, 1993). Similarly, we found in the theoretical model that TJC had the highest impact on DAS28, followed by ESR, SJC, and GH. The finding that GH had only a minor impact on the DAS28 score is not compatible with the fact that GH closely correlates with pain, and pain has a substantial impact on the quality of life and function of patients with RA (Sokka *et al.*, 2000a; Mäntyselkä *et al.*, 2003). In the present patient population, ESR showed the most powerful impact on DAS28 at six months, although the median ESR was only 10.

The use of biologic agents in many countries has been restricted only to patients with high disease activity according to DAS28 (Hjardem *et al.*, 2005; Ledingham & Deighton, 2005; Gear, 2007). However, the categorical application of DAS28 in clinical decision making may be unfeasible and inappropriate, as best illustrated by real life patients. One patient in our cohort had 21/11 tender (68 joint count/ 28 joint count) and 12/11 swollen (66 joint count/ 28 joint count) joints, ESR of 5 and GH of 60. Her DAS28 score of 4.76 indicated only moderate disease activity. Another patient had 4/1 tender (68 joint count/28 joint count) and 11/8 swollen joints (68 joint count/ 28 joint count), ESR of 5 and GH of 4 with a DAS28 score of 2.54, indicating DAS28 remission. It might be desirable that in addition to DAS28, patient function and potential radiographic joint damage (van der Heijde, 2000) are routinely be taken into account in adjusting therapies for RA. I agree with the statement of Wolfe et al.

(Wolfe *et al.*, 2005b) that DAS28 may not be suitable as the sole criterion for initiation and evaluation of therapy with biologics in a clinical setting.

Although many indices for the assessment of disease activity in RA are available, measurement tools with the precision and accuracy of those available in other specialties, such as cardiology, do not exist in rheumatology (Harth & Pope, 2004). Our purpose when designing MOI-RA was to create an index with the highest possible accuracy, by capturing all the important domains of disease activity in RA. MOI-RA is a continuous index that enables the assessment of current disease activity and can therefore be used in cross sectional studies. By definition, MOI-RA can recognize worsening in clinical status. Furthermore, in the calculation of MOI-RA no complex mathematical functions are needed, and it is easy to understand and calculate.

MOI-RA results were similar regardless of which joint count (28, 42 and 66/68) was used. In other indices, joint counts are fixed. In DAS28 (Prevoo *et al.*, 1995) and SDAI (Smolen *et al.*, 2003), 28 joint counts are used and in the DAS score, a 44-joint count is applied (van der Heijde *et al.*, 1993; Smolen *et al.*, 2003). In DAS, the tender joint count is replaced by the Ritchie articular index (Ritchie *et al.*, 1968).

Clinical RA studies require efforts to collect complete data from patients. It is not rare for some data to be missing. If values of patients' general health, for example, are missing, DAS28 cannot be calculated and these patients have to be omitted from the analyses. The high imputation stability of

MOI-RA provides an opportunity to include patients with incomplete data in analyses.

Two different patient populations were chosen for this study of disease activity and remission in RA: patients from an RCT comparing two different treatment strategies and patients from a clinical cohort. Disease activity indices and remission needed to be tested in both circumstances; in the first case, the RA patients included were selected according to inclusion criteria for high disease activity, while the latter cohort included all RA patients diagnosed in a rheumatology clinic.

The results of the present study indicate that the rate of remission in RA depends on the criteria used. We also showed that sustained remission, which is more often achieved by patients receiving combination therapy, protects RA patients against radiographic joint damage. Furthermore, although the widely used definition of remission, DAS28 remission, is less stringent than ACR remission, a substantial proportion of patients below the DAS28 cutoff point for remission had tender and/or swollen joints. Finally, I remain somewhat skeptical about the notion of a perfect disease activity index in RA. Indices may work properly at a group level, but may fail to do so in individual patients due to factors that are not associated with inflammation (Leeb *et al.*, 2004), such as gender (Leeb *et al.*, 2007). The MOI-RA index represents an attempt to develop an instrument for measuring overall disease activity in RA.

10. SUMMARY AND PROSPECTS

A modern approach to the treatment of RA includes tight control of the disease. This is made possible by frequent follow up visits, systematic assessment of disease activity and modification of therapy accordingly (Fransen *et al.*, 2005). The target of therapy is a sustained state of remission or minimal disease activity, which can be achieved by combining traditional DMARDs or methotrexate and biologics (van der Heijde *et al.*, 2005). However, no single measure of disease activity and remission in RA exists; various methods have been reported and are in use.

In the present study two different patient cohorts were evaluated: patients from a clinical cohort and patients from a RCT. Clinical data were analyzed in a cohort including all RA patients diagnosed in 1997-1998 at Jyväskylä Central Hospital, and the clinical trial data were acquired from early RA patients in the FIN-RACo trial (Möttönen *et al.*, 1999) comparing two different treatment strategies.

We showed that frequency of remission depends on the definition used. Further, sustained remission can be achieved with a combination of traditional DMARDs. Moreover, sustained remission protects against radiographic progression. On the other hand, patients who are in remission according to the widely used DAS28< 2.6 remission may still have residual disease activity. Although DAS28 has proven to work well at group level, there are individual patients whose disease activity may be high despite a DAS28 value indicating low disease activity. Finally, we developed a new disease

activity index for use in RCTs and clinical settings, the Mean Overall Index of disease activity (MOI-RA), which captures most dimensions reflecting disease activity of RA.

Patients in the clinical cohort and in the FIN-RACo trial were treated actively with traditional DMARDs. This probably contributed to the good outcomes - progressive joint destruction was rare. However, the global picture of outcomes of RA patients is modest (Sokka *et al.*, 2007b). In the future, effective therapy (with traditional DMARDs in the first place) should be made available and given to all RA patients worldwide.

New information technology will facilitate the follow-up of RA patients, including the collection of patient information. A new technology has been implemented in data collection in our rheumatology clinic. RA patients complete self-report questionnaires using a touch screen with immediate storage in a database. This decreases possible data entry mistakes, and the data are readily available for the treating health professionals. Diagrams of patient's disease activity and treatments can be produced. In the future, most of the data collection may be completed by the patient and a trained nurse instead of a physician.

In conclusion, rheumatologists world wide should become aware that benefits for the patient can be obtained by combining the optimal treatment strategy with the most appropriate outcome measures. Low disease activity, intensive monitoring, and rapid adjustments of treatment appear to promise the greatest benefit for the RA patient (Dougados *et al.*, 2007).

11. REFERENCES

- AHO, K., KAIPIAINEN-SEPPÄNEN, O., HELIÖVAARA, M. & KLAUKKA, T. (1998). Epidemiology of rheumatoid arthritis in Finland. Semin Arthritis Rheum 27, 325-334.
- AHO, K., PALOSUO, T., RAUNIO, V., PUSKA, P., AROMAA, A. & SALONEN, J. T. (1985). When does rheumatoid disease start? Arthritis Rheum 28, 485-489.
- ALAMANOS, Y., VOULGARI, P. V. & DROSOS, A. A. (2006). Incidence and prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis, based on the 1987 American College of Rheumatology criteria: a systematic review. Semin Arthritis Rheum 36, 182-188.
- ALARCON, G. S., BLACKBURN, W. D., JR., CALVO, A. & CASTANEDA, O. (1987). Evaluation of the American Rheumatism Association preliminary criteria for remission in rheumatoid arthritis: a prospective study. J Rheumatol 14, 93-96.
- ALETAHA, D., NELL, V. P., STAMM, T., UFFMANN, M., PFLUGBEIL, S., MACHOLD, K. & SMOLEN, J. S. (2005a). Acute phase reactants add little to composite disease activity indices for rheumatoid arthritis: validation of a clinical activity score. Arthritis Res Ther 7, R796-806.
- ALETAHA, D. & SMOLEN, J. (2005). The Simplified Disease Activity Index (SDAI) and the Clinical Disease Activity Index (CDAI): a review of their usefulness and validity in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 23, S100-108.
- ALETAHA, D., WARD, M. M., MACHOLD, K. P., NELL, V. P., STAMM, T. & SMOLEN, J. S. (2005b). Remission and active disease in rheumatoid arthritis: defining criteria for disease activity states. Arthritis Rheum 52, 2625-2636.
- ARNETT, F. C., EDWORTHY, S. M., BLOCH, D. A., MCSHANE, D. J., FRIES, J. F., COOPER, N. S., HEALEY, L. A., KAPLAN, S. R., LIANG, M. H., LUTHRA, H. S. & ET AL. (1988). The American Rheumatism Association 1987 revised criteria for the classification of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 31, 315-324.
- BALSA, A., CARMONA, L., GONZALEZ-ALVARO, I., BELMONTE, M. A., TENA, X. & SANMARTI, R. (2004). Value of Disease Activity Score 28 (DAS28) and DAS28-3 compared to American College of Rheumatology-defined remission in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 31, 40-46.

- BATHON, J. M., MARTIN, R. W., FLEISCHMANN, R. M., TESSER, J. R., SCHIFF, M. H., KEYSTONE, E. C., GENOVESE, M. C., WASKO, M. C., MORELAND, L. W., WEAVER, A. L., MARKENSON, J. & FINCK, B. K. (2000). A comparison of etanercept and methotrexate in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 343, 1586-1593.
- BERGSTROM, U., BOOK, C., LINDROTH, Y., MARSAL, L., SAXNE, T. & JACOBSSON, L. (1999). Lower disease activity and disability in Swedish patients with rheumatoid arthritis in 1995 compared with 1978. Scand J Rheumatol 28, 160-165.
- BREEDVELD, F. C., WEISMAN, M. H., KAVANAUGH, A. F., COHEN, S. B., PAVELKA, K., VAN VOLLENHOVEN, R., SHARP, J., PEREZ, J. L. & SPENCER-GREEN, G. T. (2006). The PREMIER study: A multicenter, randomized, double-blind clinical trial of combination therapy with adalimumab plus methotrexate versus methotrexate alone or adalimumab alone in patients with early, aggressive rheumatoid arthritis who had not had previous methotrexate treatment. Arthritis Rheum 54, 26-37.
- BRUCE, B. & FRIES, J. F. (2003). The Stanford Health Assessment Questionnaire: a review of its history, issues, progress, and documentation. J Rheumatol 30, 167-178.
- BRUCE, B. & FRIES, J. F. (2005). The Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAQ). Clin Exp Rheumatol 23, S14-18.
- BURMESTER, G. R., FERRACCIOLI, G., FLIPO, R. M., MONTEAGUDO-SAEZ, I., UNNEBRINK, K., KARY, S. & KUPPER, H. (2007). Clinical remission and/or minimal disease activity in patients receiving adalimumab treatment in a multinational, open-label, twelve-week study. Arthritis Rheum 59, 32-41.
- CHOI, H. K., HERNAN, M. A., SEEGER, J. D., ROBINS, J. M. & WOLFE, F. (2002). Methotrexate and mortality in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a prospective study. Lancet 359, 1173-1177.
- COMMITTEE. (2007). A proposed revision to the ACR20: the hybrid measure of American College of Rheumatology response. Arthritis Rheum 57, 193-202.
- CORRIGAN, A. B., ROBINSON, R. G., TERENTY, T. R., DICK-SMITH, J. B. & WALTERS, D. (1974). Benign rheumatoid arthritis of the aged. Br Med J 1, 444-446.
- CSUKA, M., CARRERA, G. F. & MCCARTY, D. J. (1986). Treatment of intractable rheumatoid arthritis with combined cyclophosphamide, azathioprine, and hydroxychloroquine. A follow-up study. Jama 255, 2315-2319.
- DAS. Disease Activity Score in Rheumatoid Arthritis(<u>http://www.das-</u> score.nl/www.das-score.nl/index.html).
- DOUGADOS, M., ALETAHA, D. & VAN RIEL, P. (2007). Disease activity measures for rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 25, S22-29.
- DUTHIE, J. J., BROWN, P. E., KNOX, J. D. & THOMPSON, M. (1957). Course and prognosis in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 16, 411-424.
- EBERHARDT, K. & FEX, E. (1998). Clinical course and remission rate in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis: relationship to outcome after 5 years. Br J Rheumatol 37, 1324-1329.
- EBERHARDT, K. B., RYDGREN, L. C., PETTERSSON, H. & WOLLHEIM, F. A. (1990). Early rheumatoid arthritis--onset, course, and outcome over 2 years. Rheumatol Int 10, 135-142.
- EDWARDS, J. C., SZCZEPANSKI, L., SZECHINSKI, J., FILIPOWICZ-SOSNOWSKA, A., EMERY, P., CLOSE, D. R., STEVENS, R. M. & SHAW, T. (2004). Efficacy of B-cell-targeted therapy with rituximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 350, 2572-2581.
- EGAN, B. M., LACKLAND, D. T. & CUTLER, N. E. (2003). Awareness, knowledge, and attitudes of older americans about high blood pressure: implications for health care policy, education, and research. Arch Intern Med 163, 681-687.
- EMERY, P., FLEISCHMANN, R., FILIPOWICZ-SOSNOWSKA, A., SCHECHTMAN, J., SZCZEPANSKI, L., KAVANAUGH, A., RACEWICZ, A. J., VAN VOLLENHOVEN, R. F., LI, N. F., AGARWAL, S., HESSEY, E. W. & SHAW, T. M. (2006). The efficacy and safety of rituximab in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis despite methotrexate treatment: results of a phase IIB randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-ranging trial. Arthritis Rheum 54, 1390-1400.
- EMERY, P. & SALMON, M. (1995). Early rheumatoid arthritis: time to aim for remission? Ann Rheum Dis 54, 944-947.
- FELDMANN, M., BRENNAN, F. M. & MAINI, R. N. (1996). Role of cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis. Annu Rev Immunol 14, 397-440.
- FELSON, D. T., ANDERSON, J. J., BOERS, M., BOMBARDIER, C., CHERNOFF, M., FRIED, B., FURST, D., GOLDSMITH, C., KIESZAK, S., LIGHTFOOT, R. & ET AL. (1993). The American College of Rheumatology preliminary core set of disease activity measures for rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials. The

Committee on Outcome Measures in Rheumatoid Arthritis Clinical Trials. Arthritis Rheum 36, 729-740.

- FELSON, D. T., ANDERSON, J. J., BOERS, M., BOMBARDIER, C., FURST, D., GOLDSMITH, C., KATZ, L. M., LIGHTFOOT, R., JR., PAULUS, H., STRAND, V. & ET AL. (1995). American College of Rheumatology. Preliminary definition of improvement in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 38, 727-735.
- FELSON, D. T., ANDERSON, J. J., LANGE, M. L., WELLS, G. & LAVALLEY, M. P. (1998). Should improvement in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials be defined as fifty percent or seventy percent improvement in core set measures, rather than twenty percent? Arthritis Rheum 41, 1564-1570.
- FERRACCIOLI, G. F., GREMESE, E., TOMIETTO, P., FAVRET, G., DAMATO, R. & DI POI, E. (2002). Analysis of improvements, full responses, remission and toxicity in rheumatoid patients treated with step-up combination therapy (methotrexate, cyclosporin A, sulphasalazine) or monotherapy for three years. Rheumatology (Oxford) 41, 892-898.
- FEX, E., JONSSON, K., JOHNSON, U. & EBERHARDT, K. (1996). Development of radiographic damage during the first 5-6 yr of rheumatoid arthritis. A prospective follow-up study of a Swedish cohort. Br J Rheumatol 35, 1106-1115.
- FIRESTEIN, G. S. (2005). Pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis: how early is early? Arthritis Res Ther 7, 157-159.
- FRANSEN, J., CREEMERS, M. C. & VAN RIEL, P. L. (2004). Remission in rheumatoid arthritis: agreement of the disease activity score (DAS28) with the ARA preliminary remission criteria. Rheumatology (Oxford).
- FRANSEN, J., MOENS, H. B., SPEYER, I. & VAN RIEL, P. L. (2005). Effectiveness of systematic monitoring of rheumatoid arthritis disease activity in daily practice: a multicentre, cluster randomised controlled trial. Ann Rheum Dis 64, 1294-1298.
- FRANSEN, J. & VAN RIEL, P. L. (2005). The Disease Activity Score and the EULAR response criteria. Clin Exp Rheumatol 23, S93-99.
- FRIES, J. F. (1990). Reevaluating the therapeutic approach to rheumatoid arthritis: the "sawtooth" strategy. J Rheumatol Suppl 22, 12-15.
- FRIES, J. F., SPITZ, P., KRAINES, R. G. & HOLMAN, H. R. (1980). Measurement of patient outcome in arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 23, 137-145.

- FUCHS, H. A., BROOKS, R. H., CALLAHAN, L. F. & PINCUS, T. (1989a). A simplified twenty-eight-joint quantitative articular index in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 32, 531-537.
- FUCHS, H. A., KAYE, J. J., CALLAHAN, L. F., NANCE, E. P. & PINCUS, T. (1989b). Evidence of significant radiographic damage in rheumatoid arthritis within the first 2 years of disease. J Rheumatol 16, 585-591.
- GABRIEL, S. E., CROWSON, C. S. & O'FALLON, W. M. (1999). The epidemiology of rheumatoid arthritis in Rochester, Minnesota, 1955-1985. Arthritis Rheum 42, 415-420.
- GEAR, G. D. (2007). Portuguese Guidelines for the Use of Biological Agents in Rheumatoid Arthritis December 2007 update. Acta Reumatol Port 32, 363-366.
- GENOVESE, M. C., BECKER, J. C., SCHIFF, M., LUGGEN, M., SHERRER, Y., KREMER, J., BIRBARA, C., BOX, J., NATARAJAN, K., NUAMAH, I., LI, T., ARANDA, R., HAGERTY, D. T. & DOUGADOS, M. (2005). Abatacept for rheumatoid arthritis refractory to tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibition. N Engl J Med 353, 1114-1123.
- GENOVESE, M. C., SCHIFF, M., LUGGEN, M., BECKER, J. C., ARANDA, R., TENG, J., LI, T., SCHMIDELY, N., LE BARS, M. & DOUGADOS, M. (2008). Efficacy and safety of the selective co-stimulation modulator abatacept following 2 years of treatment in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and an inadequate response to anti-tumour necrosis factor therapy. Ann Rheum Dis 67, 547-554.
- GERARDS, A. H., LANDEWE, R. B., PRINS, A. P., BRUYN, G. A., GOEI THE, H. S., LAAN, R. F. & DIJKMANS, B. A. (2003). Cyclosporin A monotherapy versus cyclosporin A and methotrexate combination therapy in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis: a double blind randomised placebo controlled trial. Ann Rheum Dis 62, 291-296.
- GOEKOOP-RUITERMAN, Y. P., DE VRIES-BOUWSTRA, J. K., ALLAART, C. F., VAN ZEBEN, D., KERSTENS, P. J., HAZES, J. M., ZWINDERMAN, A. H., RONDAY, H. K., HAN, K. H., WESTEDT, M. L., GERARDS, A. H., VAN GROENENDAEL, J. H., LEMS, W. F., VAN KRUGTEN, M. V., BREEDVELD, F. C. & DIJKMANS, B. A. (2005). Clinical and radiographic outcomes of four different treatment strategies in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis (the BeSt study): a randomized, controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 52, 3381-3390.
- GRAUDAL, N., TARP, U., JURIK, A. G., GALLOE, A. M., GARRED, P., MILMAN, N. & GRAUDAL, H. K. (2000). Inflammatory patterns in rheumatoid arthritis estimated by the number of swollen and tender joints, the erythrocyte

sedimentation rate, and hemoglobin: longterm course and association to radiographic progression. J Rheumatol 27, 47-57.

- GRIGOR, C., CAPELL, H., STIRLING, A., MCMAHON, A. D., LOCK, P., VALLANCE, R., KINCAID, W. & PORTER, D. (2004). Effect of a treatment strategy of tight control for rheumatoid arthritis (the TICORA study): a single-blind randomised controlled trial. Lancet 364, 263-269.
- HAKALA, M., PÖLLÄNEN, R. & NIEMINEN, P. (1993). The ARA 1987 revised criteria select patients with clinical rheumatoid arthritis from a population based cohort of subjects with chronic rheumatic diseases registered for drug reimbursement. J Rheumatol 20, 1674-1678.
- HANNONEN, P., MÖTTÖNEN, T., HAKOLA, M. & OKA, M. (1993). Sulfasalazine in early rheumatoid arthritis. A 48-week double-blind, prospective, placebocontrolled study. Arthritis Rheum 36, 1501-1509.
- HARTH, M. & POPE, J. (2004). The measure of our measures. Rheumatology (Oxford) 43, 1465-1467.
- HEIBERG, T., FINSET, A., UHLIG, T. & KVIEN, T. K. (2005). Seven year changes in health status and priorities for improvement of health in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 64, 191-195.
- HEIBERG, T. & KVIEN, T. K. (2002). Preferences for improved health examined in 1,024 patients with rheumatoid arthritis: pain has highest priority. Arthritis Rheum 47, 391-397.
- HELIÖVAARA, M., AHO, K., AROMAA, A., KNEKT, P. & REUNANEN, A. (1993). Smoking and risk of rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 20, 1830-1835.
- HJARDEM, E., HETLAND, M. L., OSTERGAARD, M., KROGH, N. S. & KVIEN, T. K. (2005). Prescription practice of biological drugs in rheumatoid arthritis during the first 3 years of post-marketing use in Denmark and Norway: criteria are becoming less stringent. Ann Rheum Dis 64, 1220-1223.
- HOLLANDER, M. & WOLFE, D. A. (1999). Nonparametric Statistical Methods. Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics Second Edition, 51-55.
- HULSMANS, H. M., JACOBS, J. W., VAN DER HEIJDE, D. M., VAN ALBADA-KUIPERS, G. A., SCHENK, Y. & BIJLSMA, J. W. (2000). The course of radiologic damage during the first six years of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 43, 1927-1940.

HUSKISSON, E. C. (1974). Measurement of pain. Lancet 2, 1127-1131.

- HUYSER, B. A., PARKER, J. C., THORESON, R., SMARR, K. L., JOHNSON, J. C. & HOFFMAN, R. (1998). Predictors of subjective fatigue among individuals with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 41, 2230-2237.
- INOUE, E., YAMANAKA, H., HARA, M., TOMATSU, T. & KAMATANI, N. (2007). Comparison of Disease Activity Score (DAS)28- erythrocyte sedimentation rate and DAS28- C-reactive protein threshold values. Ann Rheum Dis 66, 407-409.
- JÄNTTI, J., KAARELA, K., KAUTIAINEN, H., ISOMÄKI, H. & AHO, K. (2001). Radiographic remission in seropositive rheumatoid arthritis. A 20-year follow-up study. Clin Exp Rheumatol 19, 573-576.
- JÄNTTI, J. K., KAARELA, K., BELT, E. A. & KAUTIAINEN, H. J. (2002). Incidence of severe outcome in rheumatoid arthritis during 20 years. J Rheumatol 29, 688-692.
- KAARELA, K. & KAUTIAINEN, H. (1997). Continuous progression of radiological destruction in seropositive rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 24, 1285-1287.
- KAIPIAINEN-SEPPÄNEN, O., AHO, K. & NIKKARINEN, M. (2001). Regional differences in the incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in Finland in 1995. Ann Rheum Dis 60, 128-132.
- KAIPIAINEN-SEPPÄNEN, O. & KAUTIAINEN, H. (2006). Declining trend in the incidence of rheumatoid factor-positive rheumatoid arthritis in Finland 1980-2000. J Rheumatol 33, 2132-2138.
- KAZIS, L. E., ANDERSON, J. J. & MEENAN, R. F. (1989). Effect sizes for interpreting changes in health status. Med Care 27, S178-189.
- KHANNA, D., OH, M., FURST, D. E., RANGANATH, V., GOLD, R. H., SHARP, J. T., PARK, G. S., KEYSTONE, E. C. & PAULUS, H. E. (2007). Evaluation of the preliminary definitions of minimal disease activity and remission in an early seropositive rheumatoid arthritis cohort. Arthritis Rheum 57, 440-447.
- KIRWAN, J. R. & HEWLETT, S. (2007). Patient perspective: reasons and methods for measuring fatigue in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 34, 1171-1173.
- KLARESKOG, L., PADYUKOV, L., LORENTZEN, J. & ALFREDSSON, L. (2006a). Mechanisms of disease: Genetic susceptibility and environmental triggers in the development of rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2, 425-433.

- KLARESKOG, L., STOLT, P., LUNDBERG, K., KALLBERG, H., BENGTSSON, C., GRUNEWALD, J., RONNELID, J., HARRIS, H. E., ULFGREN, A. K., RANTAPAA-DAHLQVIST, S., EKLUND, A., PADYUKOV, L. & ALFREDSSON, L. (2006b). A new model for an etiology of rheumatoid arthritis: smoking may trigger HLA-DR (shared epitope)-restricted immune reactions to autoantigens modified by citrullination. Arthritis Rheum 54, 38-46.
- KORPELA, M., LAASONEN, L., HANNONEN, P., KAUTIAINEN, H., LEIRISALO-REPO, M., HAKALA, M., PAIMELA, L., BLAFIELD, H., PUOLAKKA, K. & MÖTTÖNEN, T. (2004). Retardation of joint damage in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis by initial aggressive treatment with disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: five-year experience from the FIN-RACo study. Arthritis Rheum 50, 2072-2081.
- KRAUSE, D., SCHLEUSSER, B., HERBORN, G. & RAU, R. (2000). Response to methotrexate treatment is associated with reduced mortality in patients with severe rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 43, 14-21.
- KREMER, J. M., WESTHOVENS, R., LEON, M., DI GIORGIO, E., ALTEN, R., STEINFELD, S., RUSSELL, A., DOUGADOS, M., EMERY, P., NUAMAH, I. F., WILLIAMS, G. R., BECKER, J. C., HAGERTY, D. T. & MORELAND, L. W. (2003). Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis by selective inhibition of T-cell activation with fusion protein CTLA4Ig. N Engl J Med 349, 1907-1915.
- KRISHNAN, E., HÄKKINEN, A., SOKKA, T. & HANNONEN, P. (2005). Impact of age and comorbidities on the criteria for remission and response in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 64, 1350-1352.
- KRISHNAN, E., SOKKA, T., HÄKKINEN, A., HUBERT, H. & HANNONEN, P. (2004). Normative values for the Health Assessment Questionnaire disability index: benchmarking disability in the general population. Arthritis Rheum 50, 953-960.
- KUSHNER, I. (1991). C-reactive protein in rheumatology. Arthritis Rheum 34, 1065-1068.
- LARSEN, A. (1995). How to apply Larsen score in evaluating radiographs of rheumatoid arthritis in long-term studies. J Rheumatol 22, 1974-1975.
- LARSEN, A., DALE, K. & EEK, M. (1977). Radiographic evaluation of rheumatoid arthritis and related conditions by standard reference films. Acta Radiol Diagn (Stockh) 18, 481-491.
- LEDINGHAM, J. & DEIGHTON, C. (2005). Update on the British Society for Rheumatology guidelines for prescribing TNFalpha blockers in adults

with rheumatoid arthritis (update of previous guidelines of April 2001). Rheumatology (Oxford) 44, 157-163.

- LEEB, B. F., ANDEL, I., SAUTNER, J., NOTHNAGL, T. & RINTELEN, B. (2004). The DAS28 in rheumatoid arthritis and fibromyalgia patients. Rheumatology (Oxford).
- LEEB, B. F., HAINDL, P. M., MAKTARI, A., NOTHNAGL, T. & RINTELEN, B. (2007). Disease Activity Score-28 Values Differ Considerably Depending on Patient's Pain Perception and Sex. J Rheumatol 34.
- LEVEILLE, S. G., LING, S., HOCHBERG, M. C., RESNICK, H. E., BANDEEN-ROCHE, K. J., WON, A. & GURALNIK, J. M. (2001). Widespread musculoskeletal pain and the progression of disability in older disabled women. Ann Intern Med 135, 1038-1046.
- LIANG, M. H., LARSON, M. G., CULLEN, K. E. & SCHWARTZ, J. A. (1985). Comparative measurement efficiency and sensitivity of five health status instruments for arthritis research. Arthritis Rheum 28, 542-547.
- LINDQVIST, E., JONSSON, K., SAXNE, T. & EBERHARDT, K. (2003). Course of radiographic damage over 10 years in a cohort with early rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 62, 611-616.
- LINDQVIST, E., SAXNE, T., GEBOREK, P. & EBERHARDT, K. (2002). Ten year outcome in a cohort of patients with early rheumatoid arthritis: health status, disease process, and damage. Ann Rheum Dis 61, 1055-1059.
- LISTING, J., STRANGFELD, A., RAU, R., KEKOW, J., GROMNICA-IHLE, E., KLOPSCH, T., DEMARY, W., BURMESTER, G. R. & ZINK, A. (2006). Clinical and functional remission: even though biologics are superior to conventional DMARDs overall success rates remain low--results from RABBIT, the German biologics register. Arthritis Res Ther 8, R66.
- MACGREGOR, A. J., SNIEDER, H., RIGBY, A. S., KOSKENVUO, M., KAPRIO, J., AHO, K. & SILMAN, A. J. (2000). Characterizing the quantitative genetic contribution to rheumatoid arthritis using data from twins. Arthritis Rheum 43, 30-37.
- MALLYA, R. K., DE BEER, F. C., BERRY, H., HAMILTON, E. D., MACE, B. E. & PEPYS, M. B. (1982). Correlation of clinical parameters of disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis with serum concentration of C-reactive protein and erythrocyte sedimentation rate. J Rheumatol 9, 224-228.
- MANCARELLA, L., BOBBIO-PALLAVICINI, F., CECCARELLI, F., FALAPPONE, P. C., FERRANTE, A., MALESCI, D., MASSARA, A., NACCI, F., SECCHI, M. E.,

MANGANELLI, S., SALAFFI, F., BAMBARA, M. L., BOMBARDIERI, S., CUTOLO, M., FERRI, C., GALEAZZI, M., GERLI, R., GIACOMELLI, R., GRASSI, W., LAPADULA, G., CERINIC, M. M., MONTECUCCO, C., TROTTA, F., TRIOLO, G., VALENTINI, G., VALESINI, G. & FERRACCIOLI, G. F. (2007). Good clinical response, remission, and predictors of remission in rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockers: the GISEA study. J Rheumatol 34, 1670-1673.

- MASON, J. H., ANDERSON, J. J., MEENAN, R. F., HARALSON, K. M., LEWIS-STEVENS, D. & KAINE, J. L. (1992). The rapid assessment of disease activity in rheumatology (radar) questionnaire. Validity and sensitivity to change of a patient self-report measure of joint count and clinical status. Arthritis Rheum 35, 156-162.
- MATSUI, T., KUGA, Y., KANEKO, A., NISHINO, J., ETO, Y., CHIBA, N., YASUDA, M., SAISHO, K., SHIMADA, K. & TOHMA, S. (2007a). Disease Activity Score 28 (DAS28) using C-reactive protein underestimates disease activity and overestimates EULAR response criteria compared with DAS28 using erythrocyte sedimentation rate in a large observational cohort of rheumatoid arthritis patients in Japan. Ann Rheum Dis 66, 1221-1226.
- McCarty, D. J., Harman, J. G., GRASSANOVICH, J. L., QIAN, C. & KLEIN, J. P. (1995). Combination drug therapy of seropositive rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 22, 1636-1645.
- MIERAU, M., SCHOELS, M., GONDA, G., FUCHS, J., ALETAHA, D. & SMOLEN, J. S. (2007). Assessing remission in clinical practice. Rheumatology (Oxford) 46, 975-979.
- MILLER, A., GREEN, M. & ROBINSON, D. (1983). Simple rule for calculating normal erythrocyte sedimentation rate. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 286, 266.
- MOLENAAR, E. T., VOSKUYL, A. E., DINANT, H. J., BEZEMER, P. D., BOERS, M. & DIJKMANS, B. A. (2004). Progression of radiologic damage in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in clinical remission. Arthritis Rheum 50, 36-42.
- MÄKINEN, H., HANNONEN, P. & SOKKA, T. (2006). Definitions of remission for rheumatoid arthritis and review of selected clinical cohorts and randomised clinical trials for the rate of remission. Clin Exp Rheumatol 24, S-22-28.
- MÄKINEN, H., HANNONEN, P. & SOKKA, T. (2007). Remission in rheumatoid arthritis randomized clinical trials:shift towards less stringent criteria. Ann Rheum Dis 66(Suppl II):359.

- MÄNTYSELKÄ, P. T., TURUNEN, J. H., AHONEN, R. S. & KUMPUSALO, E. A. (2003). Chronic pain and poor self-rated health. Jama 290, 2435-2442.
- MÖTTÖNEN, T., HANNONEN, P., KORPELA, M., NISSILÄ, M., KAUTIAINEN, H., ILONEN, J., LAASONEN, L., KAIPIAINEN-SEPPÄNEN, O., FRANZEN, P., HELVE, T., KOSKI, J., GRIPENBERG-GAHMBERG, M., MYLLYKANGAS-LUOSUJÄRVI, R. & LEIRISALO-REPO, M. (2002). Delay to institution of therapy and induction of remission using single-drug or combination-disease-modifying antirheumatic drug therapy in early rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 46, 894-898.
- MÖTTÖNEN, T., HANNONEN, P., LEIRISALO-REPO, M., NISSILÄ, M., KAUTIAINEN, H., KORPELA, M., LAASONEN, L., JULKUNEN, H., LUUKKAINEN, R., VUORI, K., PAIMELA, L., BLAFIELD, H., HAKALA, M., ILVA, K., YLI-KERTTULA, U., PUOLAKKA, K., JARVINEN, P., HAKOLA, M., PIIRAINEN, H., AHONEN, J., PÄLVIMÄKI, I., FORSBERG, S., KOOTA, K. & FRIMAN, C. (1999). Comparison of combination therapy with single-drug therapy in early rheumatoid arthritis: a randomised trial. FIN-RACo trial group. Lancet 353, 1568-1573.
- MÖTTÖNEN, T., PAIMELA, L., AHONEN, J., HELVE, T., HANNONEN, P. & LEIRISALO-REPO, M. (1996). Outcome in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis treated according to the "sawtooth" strategy. Arthritis Rheum 39, 996-1005.
- NICOLAU, G., YOGUI, M. M., VALLOCHI, T. L., GIANINI, R. J., LAURINDO, I. M. & NOVAES, G. S. (2004). Sources of discrepancy in patient and physician global assessments of rheumatoid arthritis disease activity. J Rheumatol 31, 1293-1296.
- NISSILÄ, M., ISOMÄKI, H., KAARELA, K., KIVINIEMI, P., MARTIO, J. & SARNA, S. (1983). Prognosis of inflammatory joint diseases. A three-year follow-up study. Scand J Rheumatol 12, 33-38.
- OLLIER, W. E., HARRISON, B. & SYMMONS, D. (2001). What is the natural history of rheumatoid arthritis? Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 15, 27-48.
- OTTERNESS, I. G. (1994). The value of C-reactive protein measurement in rheumatoid arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum 24, 91-104.
- PAULUS, H. E., RAMOS, B., WONG, W. K., AHMED, A., BULPITT, K., PARK, G., STERZ, M. & CLEMENTS, P. (1999). Equivalence of the acute phase reactants C-reactive protein, plasma viscosity, and Westergren erythrocyte sedimentation rate when used to calculate American College of Rheumatology 20% improvement criteria or the Disease Activity Score

in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. Western Consortium of Practicing Rheumatologists. J Rheumatol 26, 2324-2331.

- PILLEMER, S. R., FOWLER, S. E., TILLEY, B. C., ALARCON, G. S., HEYSE, S. P., TRENTHAM, D. E., NEUNER, R., CLEGG, D. O., LEISEN, J. C., COOPER, S. M., DUNCAN, H. & TUTTLEMAN, M. (1997). Meaningful improvement criteria sets in a rheumatoid arthritis clinical trial. MIRA Trial Group. Minocycline in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 40, 419-425.
- PINALS, R. S. (1994). Polyarthritis and fever. N Engl J Med 330, 769-774.
- PINALS, R. S., MASI, A. T. & LARSEN, R. A. (1981). Preliminary criteria for clinical remission in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 24, 1308-1315.
- PINCUS, T., AMARA, I. & KOCH, G. G. (2005a). Continuous indices of core data set measures in rheumatoid arthritis clinical trials: lower responses to placebo than seen with categorical responses with the American College of Rheumatology 20% criteria. Arthritis Rheum 52, 1031-1036.
- PINCUS, T., CHUNG, C., SEGURADO, O. G., AMARA, I. & KOCH, G. G. (2006). An index of patient reported outcomes (PRO-Index) discriminates effectively between active and control treatment in 4 clinical trials of adalimumab in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 33, 2146-2152.
- PINCUS, T. & SEGURADO, O. G. (2006). Most visits of most patients with rheumatoid arthritis to most rheumatologists do not include a formal quantitative joint count. Ann Rheum Dis 65, 820-822.
- PINCUS, T. & SOKKA, T. (2005). Complexities in the quantitative assessment of patients with rheumatic diseases in clinical trials and clinical care. Clin Exp Rheumatol 23, S1-9.
- PINCUS, T., SOKKA, T. & KAUTIAINEN, H. (2005b). Patients seen for standard rheumatoid arthritis care have significantly better articular, radiographic, laboratory, and functional status in 2000 than in 1985. Arthritis Rheum 52, 1009-1019.
- PINCUS, T., STRAND, V., KOCH, G., AMARA, I., CRAWFORD, B., WOLFE, F., COHEN, S. & FELSON, D. (2003). An index of the three core data set patient questionnaire measures distinguishes efficacy of active treatment from that of placebo as effectively as the American College of Rheumatology 20% response criteria (ACR20) or the Disease Activity Score (DAS) in a rheumatoid arthritis clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum 48, 625-630.
- PINCUS, T., SUMMEY, J. A., SORACI, S. A., JR., WALLSTON, K. A. & HUMMON, N. P. (1983). Assessment of patient satisfaction in activities of daily living using

a modified Stanford Health Assessment Questionnaire. Arthritis Rheum 26, 1346-1353.

- PINCUS, T., YAZICI, Y., BERGMAN, M., MACLEAN, R. & HARRINGTON, T. (2007a). A proposed continuous quality improvement approach to assessment and management of patients with rheumatoid arthritis without formal joint counts, based on quantitative routine assessment of patient index data (RAPID) scores on a multidimensional health assessment questionnaire (MDHAQ). Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 21, 789-804.
- PINCUS, T., YAZICI, Y. & SOKKA, T. (2007b). Quantitative measures of rheumatic diseases for clinical research versus standard clinical care: differences, advantages and limitations. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 21, 601-628.
- PLANT, M. J., JONES, P. W., SAKLATVALA, J., OLLIER, W. E. & DAWES, P. T. (1998). Patterns of radiological progression in early rheumatoid arthritis: results of an 8 year prospective study. J Rheumatol 25, 417-426.
- POLLARD, L. C., CHOY, E. H., GONZALEZ, J., KHOSHABA, B. & SCOTT, D. L. (2006). Fatigue in rheumatoid arthritis reflects pain, not disease activity. Rheumatology (Oxford) 45, 885-889.
- PREVOO, M. L., VAN GESTEL, A. M., VAN, T. H. M. A., VAN RIJSWIJK, M. H., VAN DE PUTTE, L. B. & VAN RIEL, P. L. (1996). Remission in a prospective study of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. American Rheumatism Association preliminary remission criteria in relation to the disease activity score. Br J Rheumatol 35, 1101-1105.
- PREVOO, M. L., VAN 'T HOF, M. A., KUPER, H. H., VAN LEEUWEN, M. A., VAN DE PUTTE, L. B. & VAN RIEL, P. L. (1995). Modified disease activity scores that include twenty-eight-joint counts. Development and validation in a prospective longitudinal study of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 38, 44-48.
- PUOLAKKA, K., KAUTIAINEN, H., MÖTTÖNEN, T., HANNONEN, P., KORPELA, M., HAKALA, M., JÄRVINEN, P., AHONEN, J., FORSBERG, S. & LEIRISALO-REPO, M. (2005). Early suppression of disease activity is essential for maintenance of work capacity in patients with recent-onset rheumatoid arthritis: five-year experience from the FIN-RACo trial. Arthritis Rheum 52, 36-41.
- RACHMANI, R., SLAVACHEVSKI, I., BERLA, M., FROMMER-SHAPIRA, R. & RAVID, M. (2005). Teaching and motivating patients to control their risk factors retards progression of cardiovascular as well as microvascular sequelae of Type 2 diabetes mellitus- a randomized prospective 8 years follow-up study. Diabet Med 22, 410-414.

- RIISE, T., JACOBSEN, B. K. & GRAN, J. T. (2000). Incidence and prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in the county of Troms, northern Norway. J Rheumatol 27, 1386-1389.
- RITCHIE, D. M., BOYLE, J. A., MCINNES, J. M., JASANI, M. K., DALAKOS, T. G., GRIEVESON, P. & BUCHANAN, W. W. (1968). Clinical studies with an articular index for the assessment of joint tenderness in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Q J Med 37, 393-406.
- SAMBROOK, P. N., BROWNE, C. D., CHAMPION, G. D., DAY, R. O., VALLANCE, J. B. & WARWICK, N. (1982). Terminations of treatment with gold sodium thiomalate in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 9, 932-934.
- SAVOLAINEN, E., KAIPIAINEN-SEPPÄNEN, O., KRÖGER, L. & LUOSUJÄRVI, R. (2003). Total incidence and distribution of inflammatory joint diseases in a defined population: results from the Kuopio 2000 arthritis survey. J Rheumatol 30, 2460-2468.
- SCOTT, D. L., ANTONI, C., CHOY, E. H. & VAN RIEL, P. C. (2003). Joint counts in routine practice. Rheumatology (Oxford) 42, 919-923.
- SCOTT, D. L., HOUSSIEN, D. A. & LAASONEN, L. (1995). Proposed modification to Larsen's scoring methods for hand and wrist radiographs. Br J Rheumatol 34, 56.
- SESIN, C. A. & BINGHAM, C. O., 3RD. (2005). Remission in rheumatoid arthritis: wishful thinking or clinical reality? Semin Arthritis Rheum 35, 185-196.
- SHARP, J. T., LIDSKY, M. D., COLLINS, L. C. & MORELAND, J. (1971). Methods of scoring the progression of radiologic changes in rheumatoid arthritis. Correlation of radiologic, clinical and laboratory abnormalities. Arthritis Rheum 14, 706-720.
- SHARP, J. T., LIDSKY, M. D. & DUFFY, J. (1982). Clinical responses during gold therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. Changes in synovitis, radiologically detectable erosive lesions, serum proteins, and serologic abnormalities. Arthritis Rheum 25, 540-549.
- SIEGEL, J. N. & ZHEN, B. G. (2005). Use of the American College of Rheumatology N (ACR-N) index of improvement in rheumatoid arthritis: argument in favor. Arthritis Rheum 52, 1637-1641.
- SMEDSTAD, L. M., KVIEN, T. K., MOUM, T. & VAGLUM, P. (1997). Correlates of patients' global assessment of arthritis impact. A 2-year study of 216 patients with RA. Scand J Rheumatol 26, 259-265.

- SMOLEN, J. S., BREEDVELD, F. C., SCHIFF, M. H., KALDEN, J. R., EMERY, P., EBERL, G., VAN RIEL, P. L. & TUGWELL, P. (2003). A simplified disease activity index for rheumatoid arthritis for use in clinical practice. Rheumatology (Oxford) 42, 244-257.
- SMYTHE, H. A., HELEWA, A. & GOLDSMITH, C. H. (1977). "Independent assessor" and "pooled index" as techniques for measuring treatment effects in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 4, 144-152.
- SODERLIN, M. K., BORJESSON, O., KAUTIAINEN, H., SKOGH, T. & LEIRISALO-REPO, M. (2002). Annual incidence of inflammatory joint diseases in a population based study in southern Sweden. Ann Rheum Dis 61, 911-915.
- SOKKA, T. (2003). Assessment of pain in patients with rheumatic diseases. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 17, 427-449.
- SOKKA, T. (2005). Assessment of pain in rheumatic diseases. Clin Exp Rheumatol 23, S77-84.
- SOKKA, T. & HANNONEN, P. (1999). Utility of disease modifying antirheumatic drugs in "sawtooth" strategy. A prospective study of early rheumatoid arthritis patients up to 15 years. Ann Rheum Dis 58, 618-622.
- SOKKA, T., HANNONEN, P. & MÖTTÖNEN, T. (2005). Conventional diseasemodifying antirheumatic drugs in early arthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 31, 729-744.
- SOKKA, T., KANKAINEN, A. & HANNONEN, P. (2000a). Scores for functional disability in patients with rheumatoid arthritis are correlated at higher levels with pain scores than with radiographic scores. Arthritis Rheum 43, 386-389.
- SOKKA, T., KAUTIAINEN, H., HAKKINEN, A. & HANNONEN, P. (2004a). Radiographic progression is getting milder in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. Results of 3 cohorts over 5 years. J Rheumatol 31, 1073-1082.
- SOKKA, T., KAUTIAINEN, H. & HANNONEN, P. (2007a). Stable occurrence of knee and hip total joint replacement in Central Finland between 1986 and 2003: an indication of improved long-term outcomes of rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 66, 341-344.
- SOKKA, T., KAUTIAINEN, H., HÄKKINEN, A. & HANNONEN, P. (2004b). Radiographic progression is getting milder in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. Results of 3 cohorts over 5 years. J Rheumatol 31, 1073-1082.

- SOKKA, T., KAUTIAINEN, H., TOLOZA, S., MÄKINEN, H., VERSTAPPEN, S. M., LUND HETLAND, M., NARANJO, A., BAECKLUND, E., HERBORN, G., RAU, R., CAZZATO, M., GOSSEC, L., SKAKIC, V., GOGUS, F., SIERAKOWSKI, S., BRESNIHAN, B., TAYLOR, P., MCCLINTON, C. & PINCUS, T. (2007b). QUEST-RA: quantitative clinical assessment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis seen in standard rheumatology care in 15 countries. Ann Rheum Dis 66, 1491-1496.
- SOKKA, T., MÄKINEN, H., HANNONEN, P. & PINCUS, T. (2007c). Most people over age 50 in the general population do not meet ACR remission criteria or OMERACT minimal disease activity criteria for rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 46, 1020-1023.
- Sokka, T., Möttönen, T. & Hannonen, P. (2000b). Disease-modifying antirheumatic drug use according to the 'sawtooth' treatment strategy improves the functional outcome in rheumatoid arthritis: results of a longterm follow-up study with review of the literature. Rheumatology (Oxford) 39, 34-42.
- SOKKA, T. & PINCUS, T. (2003a). Eligibility of patients in routine care for major clinical trials of anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha agents in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 48, 313-318.
- SOKKA, T. & PINCUS, T. (2003b). Most patients receiving routine care for rheumatoid arthritis in 2001 did not meet inclusion criteria for most recent clinical trials or american college of rheumatology criteria for remission. J Rheumatol 30, 1138-1146.
- SOKKA, T. & PINCUS, T. (2005). Quantitative joint assessment in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 23, S58-62.
- ST CLAIR, E. W., VAN DER HEIJDE, D. M., SMOLEN, J. S., MAINI, R. N., BATHON, J. M., EMERY, P., KEYSTONE, E., SCHIFF, M., KALDEN, J. R., WANG, B., DEWOODY, K., WEISS, R. & BAKER, D. (2004). Combination of infliximab and methotrexate therapy for early rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized, controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 50, 3432-3443.
- STEWART, M. W., PALMER, D. G. & KNIGHT, R. G. (1990). A self-report articular index measure of arthritic activity: investigations of reliability, validity and sensitivity. J Rheumatol 17, 1011-1015.
- STUCKI, G., LIANG, M. H., STUCKI, S., BRUHLMANN, P. & MICHEL, B. A. (1995). A self-administered rheumatoid arthritis disease activity index (RADAI) for epidemiologic research. Psychometric properties and correlation with parameters of disease activity. Arthritis Rheum 38, 795-798.

- SUAREZ-ALMAZOR, M. E., SOSKOLNE, C. L., SAUNDERS, L. D. & RUSSELL, A. S. (1994). Outcome in rheumatoid arthritis. A 1985 inception cohort study. J Rheumatol 21, 1438-1446.
- SYMMONS, D. P., BARRETT, E. M., BANKHEAD, C. R., SCOTT, D. G. & SILMAN, A. J. (1994). The incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in the United Kingdom: results from the Norfolk Arthritis Register. Br J Rheumatol 33, 735-739.
- TALSTAD, I., SCHEIE, P., DALEN, H. & ROLI, J. (1983). Influence of plasma proteins on erythrocyte morphology and sedimentation. Scand J Haematol 31, 478-484.
- UHLIG, T., KVIEN, T. K., GLENNAS, A., SMEDSTAD, L. M. & FORRE, O. (1998). The incidence and severity of rheumatoid arthritis, results from a county register in Oslo, Norway. J Rheumatol 25, 1078-1084.
- VAN DER HEIJDE, D. (1999). How to read radiographs according to the Sharp/van der Heijde method. J Rheumatol 26, 743-745.
- VAN DER HEIJDE, D., KLARESKOG, L., BOERS, M., LANDEWE, R., CODREANU, C., BOLOSIU, H. D., PEDERSEN, R. & FATENEJAD, S. (2005). Comparison of different definitions to classify remission and sustained remission: 1 year TEMPO results. Ann Rheum Dis 64, 1582-1587.
- VAN DER HEIJDE, D., KLARESKOG, L., RODRIGUEZ-VALVERDE, V., CODREANU, C., BOLOSIU, H., MELO-GOMES, J., TORNERO-MOLINA, J., WAJDULA, J., PEDERSEN, R. & FATENEJAD, S. (2006). Comparison of etanercept and methotrexate, alone and combined, in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: Two-year clinical and radiographic results from the TEMPO study, a double-blind, randomized trial. Arthritis Rheum 54, 1063-1074.
- VAN DER HEIJDE, D. M. (2000). Radiographic imaging: the 'gold standard' for assessment of disease progression in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 39 Suppl 1, 9-16.
- VAN DER HEIJDE, D. M., VAN LEEUWEN, M. A., VAN RIEL, P. L. & VAN DE PUTTE, L. B. (1995). Radiographic progression on radiographs of hands and feet during the first 3 years of rheumatoid arthritis measured according to Sharp's method (van der Heijde modification). J Rheumatol 22, 1792-1796.
- VAN DER HEIJDE, D. M., VAN 'T HOF, M., VAN RIEL, P. L. & VAN DE PUTTE, L. B. (1993). Development of a disease activity score based on judgment in clinical practice by rheumatologists. J Rheumatol 20, 579-581.

- VAN DER HEIJDE, D. M., VAN 'T HOF, M. A., VAN RIEL, P. L., THEUNISSE, L. A., LUBBERTS, E. W., VAN LEEUWEN, M. A., VAN RIJSWIJK, M. H. & VAN DE PUTTE, L. B. (1990). Judging disease activity in clinical practice in rheumatoid arthritis: first step in the development of a disease activity score. Ann Rheum Dis 49, 916-920.
- VAN DER HELM-VAN MIL AHM, B. F., AND HUIZINGA T WJ. (2006). Review. Aspects of early arthritis. Definition of disease states in early arthritis:remission versus minimal disease activity. Arthritis Research Ther 8.
- VAN GESTEL, A. M., ANDERSON, J. J., VAN RIEL, P. L., BOERS, M., HAAGSMA, C. J., RICH, B., WELLS, G., LANGE, M. L. & FELSON, D. T. (1999). ACR and EULAR improvement criteria have comparable validity in rheumatoid arthritis trials. American College of Rheumatology European League of Associations for Rheumatology. J Rheumatol 26, 705-711.
- VAN GESTEL, A. M., HAAGSMA, C. J. & VAN RIEL, P. L. (1998). Validation of rheumatoid arthritis improvement criteria that include simplified joint counts. Arthritis Rheum 41, 1845-1850.
- VAN GESTEL, A. M., PREVOO, M. L., VAN 'T HOF, M. A., VAN RIJSWIJK, M. H., VAN DE PUTTE, L. B. & VAN RIEL, P. L. (1996). Development and validation of the European League Against Rheumatism response criteria for rheumatoid arthritis. Comparison with the preliminary American College of Rheumatology and the World Health Organization/International League Against Rheumatism Criteria. Arthritis Rheum 39, 34-40.
- VAN RIEL, P. L., TAGGART, A. J., SANY, J., GAUBITZ, M., NAB, H. W., PEDERSEN, R., FREUNDLICH, B. & MACPEEK, D. (2006). Efficacy and safety of combination etanercept and methotrexate versus etanercept alone in patients with rheumatoid arthritis with an inadequate response to methotrexate: the ADORE study. Ann Rheum Dis 65, 1478-1483.
- VAN RIEL, P. L. & VAN GESTEL, A. M. (2000). Clinical outcome measures in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 59 Suppl 1, i28-31.
- WELLS, G. A., BOERS, M., SHEA, B., BROOKS, P. M., SIMON, L. S., STRAND, C. V., ALETAHA, D., ANDERSON, J. J., BOMBARDIER, C., DOUGADOS, M., EMERY, P., FELSON, D. T., FRANSEN, J., FURST, D. E., HAZES, J. M., JOHNSON, K. R., KIRWAN, J. R., LANDEWE, R. B., LASSERE, M. N., MICHAUD, K., SUAREZ-ALMAZOR, M., SILMAN, A. J., SMOLEN, J. S., VAN DER HEIJDE, D. M., VAN RIEL, P. L., WOLFE, F. & TUGWELL, P. S. (2005). Minimal disease activity for rheumatoid arthritis: a preliminary definition. J Rheumatol 32, 2016-2024.

- WENER, M. H., DAUM, P. R. & MCQUILLAN, G. M. (2000). The influence of age, sex, and race on the upper reference limit of serum C-reactive protein concentration. J Rheumatol 27, 2351-2359.
- VERSTAPPEN, S. M., JACOBS, J. W., VAN DER VEEN, M. J., HEURKENS, A. H., SCHENK, Y., TER BORG, E. J., BLAAUW, A. A. & BIJLSMA, J. W. (2007). Intensive treatment with methotrexate in early rheumatoid arthritis: aiming for remission. Computer Assisted Management in Early Rheumatoid Arthritis (CAMERA, an open-label strategy trial). Ann Rheum Dis 66, 1443-1449.
- WILLIAMS, H. J., WARD, J. R., READING, J. C., BROOKS, R. H., CLEGG, D. O., SKOSEY, J. L., WEISMAN, M. H., WILLKENS, R. F., SINGER, J. Z., ALARCON, G. S. & ET AL. (1992). Comparison of auranofin, methotrexate, and the combination of both in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. A controlled clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum 35, 259-269.
- WOLFE, F. & HAWLEY, D. J. (1985). Remission in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 12, 245-252.
- WOLFE, F., HAWLEY, D. J. & WILSON, K. (1996). The prevalence and meaning of fatigue in rheumatic disease. J Rheumatol 23, 1407-1417.
- WOLFE, F. & MICHAUD, K. (1994). The clinical and research significance of the erythrocyte sedimentation rate. J Rheumatol 21, 1227-1237.
- WOLFE, F. & MICHAUD, K. (2006). Anemia and renal function in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 33, 1516-1522.
- WOLFE, F., MICHAUD, K. & PINCUS, T. (2005a). A composite disease activity scale for clinical practice, observational studies, and clinical trials: the patient activity scale (PAS/PAS-II). J Rheumatol 32, 2410-2415.
- WOLFE, F., MICHAUD, K., PINCUS, T., FURST, D. & KEYSTONE, E. (2005b). The disease activity score is not suitable as the sole criterion for initiation and evaluation of anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy in the clinic: discordance between assessment measures and limitations in questionnaire use for regulatory purposes. Arthritis Rheum 52, 3873-3879.
- WOLFE, F., PINCUS, T., THOMPSON, A. K. & DOYLE, J. (2003). The assessment of rheumatoid arthritis and the acceptability of self-report questionnaires in clinical practice. Arthritis Rheum 49, 59-63.
- WOLFE, F., ROSS, K., HAWLEY, D. J., ROBERTS, F. K. & CATHEY, M. A. (1993). The prognosis of rheumatoid arthritis and undifferentiated polyarthritis

syndrome in the clinic: a study of 1141 patients. J Rheumatol 20, 2005-2009.

- YAZICI, Y., ERKAN, D., PETERSON, M. G. & KAGEN, L. J. (2001). Morning stiffness: how common is it and does it correlate with physician and patient global assessment of disease activity? J Rheumatol 28, 1468-1469.
- YILDIRIM, K., KARATAY, S., MELIKOGLU, M. A., GURESER, G., UGUR, M. & SENEL, K. (2004). Associations between acute phase reactant levels and disease activity score (DAS28) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Clin Lab Sci 34, 423-426.
- YOUNG, A., DIXEY, J., COX, N., DAVIES, P., DEVLIN, J., EMERY, P., GALLIVAN, S., GOUGH, A., JAMES, D., PROUSE, P., WILLIAMS, P. & WINFIELD, J. (2000). How does functional disability in early rheumatoid arthritis (RA) affect patients and their lives? Results of 5 years of follow-up in 732 patients from the Early RA Study (ERAS). Rheumatology (Oxford) 39, 603-611.

12. ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

I Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Sokka T. Frequency of remissions in early rheumatoid arthritis defined by 3 sets of criteria. A 5-year followup study. J Rheumatol 2005;32(5):796-800.

II Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Möttönen T, Leirisalo-Repo M, Laasonen L, Korpela M, Blåfield H, Hakola M, Sokka T. Sustained remission and reduced radiographic progression with combination disease modifying antirheumatic drugs in early rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 2007;34(2):316-21.

III Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Sokka T. Is DAS28 an appropriate tool to assess remission in rheumatoid arthritis? Ann Rheum Dis 2005;64(10):1410-3.

IV Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Möttönen T, Korpela M, Leirisalo-Repo M, Luukkainen M, Puolakka K, Karjalainen A, Sokka T. Disease activity score 28 as an instrument to measure disease activity in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 2007;34(10):1987-91.

V Mäkinen H, Kautiainen H, Hannonen P, Sokka T. A New Disease Activity Index for Rheumatoid Arthritis: Mean Overall Index for Rheumatoid Arthritis (MOI-RA). J Rheumatol 2008;35(8):1522-7.

Kuopio University Publications D. Medical Sciences

D 422. Putkonen, Anu. Mental disorders and violent crime: epidemiological study on factors associated with severe violent offending. 2007. 88 p. Acad. Diss.

D 423. Karinen, Hannele. Genetics and family aspects of coeliac disease. 2008. 110 p. Acad. Diss.

D 424. Sutinen, Päivi. Pathophysiological effects of vibration with inner ear as a model organ. 2008. 94 p. Acad. Diss.

D 425. Koskela, Tuomas-Heikki. Terveyspalveluiden pitkäaikaisen suurkäyttäjän ennustekijät. 2008. 253 p. Acad. Diss.

D 426. Sutela, Anna. Add-on stereotactic core needle breast biopsy: diagnosis of non-palpable breast lesions detected on mammography or galactography. 2008. 127 p. Acad. Diss.

D 427. Saarelainen, Soili. Immune Response to Lipocalin Allergens: IgE and T-cell Cross-Reactivity. 2008. 127 p. Acad. Diss.

D 428. Mager, Ursula. The role of ghrelin in obesity and insulin resistance. 2008. 123 p. Acad. Diss.

D 429. Loisa, Pekka. Anti-inflammatory response in severe sepsis and septic shock. 2008. 108 p. Acad. Diss.

D 430. Joukainen, Antti. New bioabsorbable implants for the fixation of metaphyseal bone : an experimental and clinical study. 2008. 98 p. Acad. Diss.

D 431. Nykänen, Irma. Sepelvaltimotaudin prevention kehitys Suomessa vuosina 1996-2005. 2008. 158 p. Acad. Diss.

D 432. Savonen, Kai. Heart rate response to exercise in the prediction of mortality and myocardial infatction: a prospective population study in men. 2008. 165 p. Acad. Diss.

D 433. Komulainen, Pirjo. The association of vascular and neuroprotective status indicators with cognitive functioning: population-based studies. 2008. Acad. Diss.

D 434. Hassinen, Maija. Predictors and consequences of the metabolic syndrome: population-based studies in aging men and women. 2008. Acad. Diss.

D 435. Saltevo, Juha. Low-grade inflammation and adiponectin in the metabolic syndrome. 2008. 109 p. Acad. Diss.

D 436. Ervasti, Mari. Evaluation of Iron Status Using Methods Based on the Features of Red Blood Cells and Reticulocytes.

2008. 104 p. Acad. Diss.

D 437. Muukka, Eija. Luomun tie päiväkotiin: luomuruokailun toteutettavuus ja ravitsemuksellinen merkitys päiväkotilapsille. 2008. 168 p. Acad. Diss.

D 438. Sörensen, Lars. Work ability and health-related quality of life in middle-aged men: the role of physical activity and fitness. 2008. 83 p. Acad. Diss.